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INTRODUCTION

[1] The first plaintiff is A K M a minor male born on the […] February […] herein

assisted by his mother and natural guardian K C S as an adult female hostess

born […] May […] currently residing at Tsakane Ext […], […], B[…], Gauteng

Province.
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[2] The second plaintiff  is  K C S born […] May […] an adult  female hostess,

acting in her personal capacity as S’s mother and natural guardian currently

residing at Tsakane Ext […], […], B[…], Gauteng Province.

[3] The  defendant  is  the  Member  of  the  Executive  Council  (MEC  for  the

Department of Health, Gauteng in his/her capacity as such, responsible for

the health  care in  the Gauteng Province,  which responsibility  includes the

proper administration of the Pholosong Hospital, 1069 Indaba Street Tsakane

Brakpan, 1548 (hereinafter referred to as the hospital) defendant’s elective

address  for  service  is  c/o  The  State  Attorney,  Salu  Building,  316  Thaba

Sehume Street, Pretoria, Gauteng Province.

[4] The plaintiffs claim is that as a result of the defendant’s negligence, the first

plaintiff  suffered  spastic  quadriplegic  cerebral  palsy  caused  at  his  birth

asphyxia and hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy due to the defendant’s failure

to  perform  a  Caesarean  section  on  the  second  plaintiff  timeously  and

expediently for obstructive labour and foetal distress.

[4.1] In the alternative by assuming responsibility for the rendering of medical

services to the first and second plaintiff acting through its employees owed the

first  and  second  plaintiff’s  duty  of  care  to  perform  any  medical  services

rendered to them with the degree of care, skill and diligence required from a

hospital and its employees in similar circumstances.

  

[5] The  plaintiff’s  claim  is  that  the  defendant  is  in  breach  of  the  agreement

between the first and the second plaintiff and the defendant acting through its



employees failed to  exercise the degree of  care and skill  required from a

hospital in similar circumstances in South Africa.

[5.1] In the alternative the first and second plaintiffs claim that the defendant

unlawfully breached the legal duty and the duty of care, as mentioned above,

in the respects as set out in particulars of claim.

[6] The  first  plaintiff  as  a  result  of  the  defendant’s  breach  of  the  agreement

alternatively the defendant’s unlawful breach of the legal duty and duty of care

and sequelae suffered future hospital expenses R 6,468,000.00 and general

damages at R 1,000, 000.00.

[7] The second plaintiff as a result of the defendant’s breach of the agreement

alternatively defendant’s unlawful breach of the legal duty and duty of care

and sequelae suffered in the sum of  R 2,023,200.00 being future hospital

expenses, past loss of earnings, future loss of earnings and general damages

at R 1,000. 000.00. The plaintiffs claim in total is the sum of R 9,491,200.00,

interest at prescribed rate and costs of suit.

[8] The parties have agreed to separate the merits and quantum and I am ceased

with only the merits of this matter.

   

BACKGROUND

[9] On the day that the matter was to start the defendant submitted a proposed

amendment to the plea and pre-trial questions which occasioned the matter to

be stood down to the next day for the plaintiff to consider.  The said proposals

were considered and the plaintiff did not take issue with same and agreed to



the amendment being effected. The court ordered that the said amendments

be effected and the matter to proceed.

[10]  The plaintiff’s counsel informed the court that he was ready to proceed and

had prepared a statement of facts wherein he alluded to the issues in dispute

and facts of common cause which will assist the court. He further submitted

that  it  was  a  compilation  of  pre-trials  that  were  held  and  that  he  was

proceeding on liability only.

COMMON CAUSE

[11] He submits  facts  of  common cause as  the  citation  of  locus standi  of  the

plaintiff, the identity that was admitted, and consequent to that, an application

for condonation which presupposes locus standi that was granted.  He further

submitted that condonation was granted for noncompliance to proper notice

being provided. He also submits that the duty of care owed to the plaintiff and

the baby A, is common cause.

ISSUES IN DISPUTE

[12] He submits that issues to be determined are that all medical personnel acted

in the course and scope of their employment with the defendant and that if I

find any negligence and causation, it follows that the defendant is liable. He

submits that on 23rd of February 2015 is the date of delivery of the baby A.

That  Baby  A  was  born  in  a  severely  compromised  state  after  probably

suffering a hypoxic-ischemic insult suffered suffocation. That there is vicarious

liability. That the antenatal course was uneventful. That a mild anaemia was

detected and the patient was recorded as HIV positive. 



[13] That, at the time of her admission she had a haemoglobin. He submits that

evidence will be led of induction of labour. That, Misoprostol, is the type of

medication that was used in the afternoon of the 24th to do the induction. That

in  the  morning  of  the  25th,  the  process  started  and  the  medication  was

administered. That in the early morning hours of the 26th of February 2015 the

cervix was dilated and thus started the second stage of labour. That there is

the  latent  phase,  the  preceding  phase  which  is  the  runup  to  that  with

contractions and the second stage, the active stage is when the birth actually

occurs. 

[14] That  there  was  very  rapid  progress  of  labour  with  dilation  of  about  six

centimetres  in  fifteen  minutes  which  constituted  precipitous  labour.  That

precipitous labour is something that will feature prominently in this matter and

they  will  lead  the  evidence  but  precipitous  labour  just  actually  constitutes

extremely fast labour. That a severely compromised male infant was born with

the  umbilical  cord  wrapped  twice  around  the  neck.  That  the  issue  of  the

umbilical  cord  is  a  contentious issue.  That  there was a retroplacental  clot

recorded which indicated a placental abruption. That the placental abruption

will feature prominently in this matter. That a very severely compromised baby

was delivered who suffers from cerebral palsy. 

[15] That there are two mechanisms of the injury which will be revealed through

evidence one is commonly referred to as an acute profound mechanism. That

means  where  the  oxygen  supply  to  the  foetus  is  immediately  shut  off.

Whereas the other  mechanism is  a  partial  prolonged mechanism which is

where the foetus is deprived of sufficient oxygen over a period of time.  That

the mechanism of  the injury is  imperative in  determining what  caused the



injury and therefore it is important for this Court to determine specific issues of

causation and negligence. 

[16] That the PGT pattern was of some assistance in confirming hypoxic injury but

it  was  non-descriptive.  That  the  MRI’s  showed  no  evidence  of  congenital

abnormality, or metabolic disturbance with previous infection of inflammatory

diseases. That the focus will be on what caused the hypoxic injury. That the

appearance of the brain injury of A M is not consistent with a watershed which

is a partial prolonged.

[17] That the radiologists in their joint minute they have excluded congenital  or

other causes and they have now agreed to exclude a partial prolonged injury.

That the plaintiff is dealing with a hypoxic injury which the baby suffered which

was caused by a sudden acute oxygen deprivation, that is Accute profound

mechanism.  That  the  Court  should  only  consider  the  acute  profound

mechanism that caused A ’s brain injury is intrapartum related hypoxia an

ischemic.  That  he  suffocated  in  the  final  stages  of  birth  as  a  result  of

something that acutely cut off his oxygen supply. 

[18] That  the  plaintiff  experienced  hyperstimulation  is  a  contentious  issue.

“Whether  the  acute  profound  brain  injury  suffered  was  as  a  result  of  the

placental  abruption.”  There  is  a  placental  abruption  in  this  matter.  The

plaintiffs  will  adduce  evidence  to  convince  this  Court  that  all  of  this  was

related to the augmentation, to the medication which caused hyperstimulation

or hyperstimulation caused precipitous labour. That precipitous labour caused

placental abruption. That the acute profound brain injury suffered was as a



result of the placental abruption which was most probably the result of the

Misoprostol induced precipitous labour. 

[19] That the counter side of that coin is whether the placental abruption and the

tied umbilical cord, both of which were likely to have been unforeseen and

thus  not  preventative  cause.  That  If  the  Court  finds  that  the  placental

abruption constituted a true sentinel event unforeseen, no warning, cannot do

anything about it, then the claim must fail. If the Court finds that the placental

abruption was a result of Misoprostol, lack of monitoring, hyper stimulation,

precipitous  labour  then  I  would  submit  that  a  finding  of  liability  would  be

appropriate depending on the negligence obviously. That counsel submits as

his view specifically a causation issue. 

[20] That whether the treatment and/or monitoring provided or lack thereof in the

period 21:30 to 00:15 on 25 to 26 February constituted unreasonable care 20

and if so, whether such unreasonable care contributed to the injury suffered

by A. That in the event of unreasonable care, whether the injury to A was

preventive if there was reasonable care. That the But for test” be applied to

say had there been reasonable care will the baby still have suffered the injury.

[21] Counsel further submitted that there is a lot of clinical data, clinical tests and

clinical records which relates to both the time before 09:30 on the 25th and

subsequent to the birth of A. That they might in evidence refer to one or two of

those 10 documents but that is the let us call it the contentious period, that

period from 09:30 until  the birth.  That,  did they do what should they have

done, or could have prevented what happened to the baby. That concluded

the opening statement of the plaintiffs’ counsel. 



[22] Counsel for the defendant confirmed the issues in dispute as alluded to by

counsel for the plaintiff and elected not to make an opening statement. 

MERITS

[23] Counsel  Myburgh  proceeded  to  call  the  first  witness  being  Emmerentia

Jansen van Rensburg a professional nurse who was sworn in.  She says she

did her training at the University of Bloemfontein where she did her general

midwifery  and  all  her  other  qualifications.  She  moved  from  there  to

Johannesburg Hospital and where she worked in the casualty department and

the trauma unit and did see lots of labour deliveries. She says she moved to

Pretoria at the then HF Verwoerd Hospital. She says she was in charge of the

casualty  department  where  they  do  not  do  deliveries  but  were  receiving

patients  and  then  after  in  charge  of  the  outpatient’s  department  that  was

dealing with maternity issues.

[24] She says she keeps herself updated with research and articles. She says she

started in 1979 and finished her degree in four years. She says she did her

honours  thereafter.  She  says  she  has  fourty  years  experience.  She  was

referred to the merits bundle and she identified the document as her report

which  was  written  in  2018.  She  further  stated  that  an  addendum

subsequently. She explains that when she did her first report there were no

hospital  records available and she only received the hospital  records quite

recently. She referred to paginated page 21 which is marked annexure A. 

[25] She says in terms of the Nursing Act as a nurse you must be registered at

South  African  Nursing  Council.  The  South  African  Nursing  Council  gives

guidelines on how to work. She says the council  deals with the registered



members. She says she used the guidelines reference in her report that are

published by the Department of Health and are updated on a regular basis.

There is 2007, then it is 2015 and then continuously it is updated. She says

she has lots  of  maternity  care,  lots  of  research and updates on maternity

events. 

[26] Counsel referred the nurse to another file which he referred to as the plaintiff’s

merits experts at volume 009-139. The nurse says at page 009-135 is her

addendum report. It was drawn after she had sight of the clinical records. That

the CTG is a cardiotocography that  they take in the hospital  for  a  patient

where with bands around the abdomen and the purpose of it is to monitor the

foetal  heartrate  and  the  contractions.  It  is  basically  two  sensors  that  are

placed on the abdomen that is attached with elastic bands. The sensor for the

contraction and the sensor for the foetal heartrate. 

[27] The foetal  heartrate is  FHR which means it  is  the  heartrate of  the  foetus

before delivery. The heartrate can be determined either by using a CTG or it

can in the absence of a CTG you can use a specific stethoscope.  It is done to

monitor foetal heartrate and contractions. The contractions can be felt using

your hand on the abdomen to feel the contractions. Reactive is if you take at

CTG, normally a CTG must be taken at least ten minutes but ideal is to do it

thirty  minutes  and  then  it  is  to  determine  the  foetal  baseline  or  the

decelerations,  contractions  and  baseline.  Variabilities,  then  they  say  it  is

reactive and then all that information must be then recorded by the nursing

personnel, the midwife in the document in case the CTG get lost.



[28] Counsel also referred the nurse to trial bundle file at page 6.  She says that

handwritten document is the CTG, a tracing of a CTG. The top line is where

the foetal heartrate is done and the bottom part it is where the contractions is

but then it  must start  on the baseline. This is for explanatory purpose the

result of the CTG and what you see is foetal heartrate and contractions. The

reactive CTG status is if the foetal heartrate is between 110 and less than 160

and the baseline variabilities is less than – or between five and 25. There is

no decelerations and not more than two accelerations within ten minutes. 

[29] Augmentation of labour is a process of labour that is very slow then there are

techniques  that  can  be  used  by  the  doctor  to  assist  the  patient  with  the

progress of labour. Medicine is used to speed up the labour process such as

the drug called Misoprostol  but  says she did not work with it  herself.  She

confirms that Misoprostol is medicine that you use to augment or speed up

the labour process. It is important to monitor whilst the patient is receiving the

Misoprostol  because  the  purpose  of  the  medication  is  to  increase  the

contractions and thus it is important. 

[30] She says the side effects of  Misoprostol  are too many contractions,  there

must not be more than five contractions in ten minutes. If the intensity of the

10 contractions is too high, more than 40 to 60 millimetres per second, more

than 40 to 60 seconds then the foetus will not get time to get enough oxygen

which  can then cause  a  problem.  Contractions  are  important  to  be  taken

before every dose of  Misoprostol.  When confronted with  a non-reassuring

foetal status, you must immediately contact the attending doctor and there are

certain measures to be taken is giving the patient oxygen. The patient must



be turned to the left side, start intravenous fluid and it is most important is to

immediately call the attending doctor. 

[31] She was referred to the trial  bundle wherein she looked at the four hourly

observation chart for antenatal problems. The last entry made according to

that document was done at 22:00 meaning ten o’clock at night on the 25 th.

She read the vitals at ten o’clock that night as 130/80 and the pulse rate is

100. She said it would be strange that the pulse rate remained the same. She

was requested to read page 151 which was read as follows: “The first stage of

labour latent phase was diagnosed by the doctor on 24 February 2015 at

09:00.  It  was also  noted at  09:10 by  the  nursing  personnel  that  continue

maternal  and foetal  monitoring must be done. Although the maternal   and

foetal  monitoring  were  planned  by  the  nursing  personnel  no  nursing

interventions  or  evaluations  were  done  or  recorded.  As  per  guideline  for

maternity care, maternal  monitoring must  have been done four hourly and

uterine contractions monitoring two hourly. Foetal heart rate must have been

done two hourly.” 

[32] She further read that a CTG was done for the first time at 16:01 up to 16:32

then seven hours later as per the addendum report of Doctor Sevenster. She

says according to the nursing records on the 24 th February 2015 at 19:30 a

CTG was done although no proof is available. On page 152 she read on the

25th of  February 2015 at 17:26 a CTG was taken at 17:40. She says it  is

recorded both CTG’s were reactive. She acknowledges the decelerations on

the unidentified and undated CTG recording on 25 February at 20:57. She

said  she  could  not  comment  due  to  the  missing  aforesaid  important



information. There is also no nursing record indicating that a CTG was taken

in the nursing records. 

[33] There is no evidence that maternal monitoring was done after 22:00 on 25

February 2015 and the last evidence of foetal monitoring of the CTG that was

identified with a date and time was done on 25 February 2015 at 17:40. In

every two hours monitoring of contractions needed to be done before the next

medication was given. The information needed to be recorded in the nursing

documents  the  contractions  of  the  patient  must  be  assessed before  each

dose of Misoprostol is given. She says from 09:10 up to 16:01 and from 18:50

the maternal  contractions were not  monitored even when the dosage was

increased from 10 millilitres to 20 millilitres from 15:30 until 23:30.

[34] There  is  no  proof  that  a  CTG  was  per formed  pr ior  to  that

i tem being inser ted.  The  portogram must  s tart  at  the  moment

of  the  latent  phase  and  then  when  i t  is  in  the  act ive  phase

then  you  carry  i t  over  to  the  latent  phase.  She  says  every

four  hours  must  be  maternal  moni tor ing  must  be  done  and

the  foetal  heart  ra te  every  two  hours  and  the  contract ions

must  be  indicated  on  the  por togram.  The  last  entry  was  at

22h00  wi th  v i ta ls  at  130/87  and  pulse  at  100  which  was

simi lar  to  one  at  00h15.  She  says  “A  CTG  was  done  for  the

f i rst  t ime at  16:01 up to 16:32.”The nurs ing records on the 24

February 2015 at  19:30 a CTG was done a l though no proof is

avai lab le .

[35] There is  no CTG’s and no ment ion of moni tor ing in the per iod

hal f  past  n ine  up  and  unt i l  quar ter  past  twelve.  The  dosage



was  increased  f rom  15:30  to  20  mil l i l i t res  per  hour  but  there

was no proper moni tor ing. She says there is  no ev idence that

proper  evaluat ion  of  cont ract ions  dur ing  the  induct ion  per iod

and i t  is  c lear  that  the  guide l ines for  matern ity  care  were  not

fo l lowed.  The  pat ient  wi l l  exp la in  the  fee l ing  and  extend  of

the  pain.  Counsel  Myburgh  concluded  h is  examinat ion  in

chief .

[36]  Counsel Mphahlele cross-examined nurse says she matriculated in 1978 then

in 1979 she studied her diploma in nursing at UOFS which was a four-year

degree. Community health is part of the course that was done in six months.

She could not recall the year she studied trauma course.  She did a nursing

management course but also do not recall the year between 2005 to 2009.

She  was  studying  and  also  doing  practical’s. She  has  lo ts  of

exper ience  of  materni ty  and  of  speci f ical ly  labour .  She

worked  in  the  casual ty  department ,  d id  lo ts  o f  research  and

cont inues  to  read  up.  She  sees  herse lf  as  an  exper t  because

of t ra in ing, exper ience, reading ar t ic les and research. 

[37] She  never  worked in  a  labour  ward  but  in  2005 she worked in

the  out-pat ient  ward.  She  d id  not  examine  the  second

pla in t i f f ,  nei ther  d id  she work  at  Pholosong  hospi ta l .  She  has

never  worked  wi th  Misoprostol ,  nei ther  d id  she  moni tor  a

pat ient  whom  Misoprostol  has  been  used.  She  says  the

guidel ines  were  not  fo l lowed  nei ther  there  is  record ing  but

she  unders tand  augmentat ion  and  induct ion.  She  could  not



say  which  sect ion  in  the  Nursing  Act  has  been  contravened

by  the  nursing  staf f  at  Pholosong  hospi ta l .  She  says  records

can  get  lost .  The doctor diagnosed and then it was noted by the nursing

personnel that they must continue with monitoring. That was the end of cross

examination for the first witness of the plaintiff.

[38] Counsel for the plaintiff proceeded to call the plaintiff, K C S who was sworn

in. She says the hospital where she gave birth to her child, nobody opened

her eyes to the effect that the child was having a problem. She asked the

physiotherapist what was wrong with her child and he said the treatment will

only start after the period of six months. She says when she was discharged

they reminded her that she must get a card for physiotherapy but no one

would tell her what was wrong with her child. She says she thought that was

going to be a once-off session not continuous. She says that the document

she is being referred to completed by the physiotherapist was not completed

in her presence as a parent they are given a certain time with the child. She

says the child spent a day or two at the ICU and thereafter the child was

moved from ICU to the ward 6A.

[39] She says that  her  child  was hospitalized until  March and was required to

attend the hospital to be seen by different doctors but was unable to tell which

specialists were attending her child. She says the doctor would say she must

train the child at home and the child was unable to perform the things that he

was asked to do. She consulted Dr Sevenster on the 01st of September 2017.

She started to have pains on the 23rd of February 2015.  She says she went to

the hospital where she was told she is three centimeters dilated. She says the

doctor  said  she  was  overdue  to  give  birth  and  thus  admitted  her  to  the



hospital. She says she was given medication on the 25th of February and that

is when she had pains. She says it was after nine that she started having

pains as there was a round clock on the wall. She conceded that she was

estimating the time as after  nine.  She says she had consumed the entire

bottle  when  the  pain  started.  She  says  she  had  pains  at  casualty,  later

maternity, and then the labour ward. 

[40] She was transferred to the labour ward, the nurses were on a tea break. She

felt something was coming out that is when she called the nurse the water

broke and the  child  followed.   She says  she was made to  wait  for  thirty

minutes as had been left at the door by the nurse. She was not put on a CTG

machine  in  the  labour  ward  and  the  pains  had  started  at  nine  until  she

delivered. She denied being taken with a wheelchair and that pain started at

23h00.

CHRISTIAAN BARTEL VAN ONSELEN SEVENSTER

[41] The  p la in t i f f  proceeded  to  cal l  the  second  witness  being

Christiaan Bartel Van Onselen Sevenster who was sworn in and proceeded to

testify.  He says he is  a  special is t  in  the  f ie ld  of  obstetr ics  and

gynaecology.   He obtained h is  special is t  degree in  1984 from

the  Universi ty  o f  Pretor ia  Cum  Laude.   He  is  a  registered

medical  legal  prac ti t ioner  wi th  SAMLA,  the  South  Afr ican

Medical  Legal  Assoc iat ion.  He  has  completed  in  excess  of

500  medical - legal  reports ,  in  excess  of  90  jo int  minutes  and

has  test i f ied  in  18  to  20  court  cases  to  date.   He  says  when

you examine the baby after birth when there was a tight cord around the neck



you  will  find  red  markings  in  the  neck,  simi lar  to  s trangulat ion

markings and you wi l l  f ind a dusky face.

[42] A  dusky  face  is  a  swol len  face  wi th  bleedings in the eye and sub-

conjunctival  bleeding,  which  are  the  most  obvious signs that  you will  find

when you examine such a baby.  That baby would have suffered some extent

of hypoxic injury as a result  of  tight cord. On CaseLines there is a colour

photograph so it  is  a  deep red swollen face and it  says figure 7 is  facial

duskiness due to tight nuchal cord. Figure 8, the second photograph refers to

petechiae which  is  smal l  l i t t le  b leeding  in  the  sk in  due  to  th is

t ight  cord around the neck.  

[43] He opines that the appearance of the brain in jury of  A M does not

have  evidence  that  you  would  have  expected  a  partial  prolonged  injury

pattern had it been the nuchal cord. He says a pat ient  is  in  labour  and

she  is  not  progressing  meaning  that  there  is  no  proper

expected  d i lat ion  of  the  cervix  you  augment  the  process  of

labour  wi th  g iv ing  the  pat ient  an  oxy toc ic  meaning  i t  is  a

medical  substance  ei ther  vaginal ly ,  oral ly  or  int ravenous  to

strengthen or  speed up the contract ions so the big  d i f ference

between  the  two,  induct ion,  the  pat ient  is  not  in  labour ,  you

are  putt ing  them  in to  labour,  augmentat ion  the  pat ient  is  in

labour  but  she  is  not  progressing  wel l  and  then  you  augment

labour  but  there  are  certa in  condit ions  that  have  to  be  met

before  you  do  augmentat ion.  Oxytocin  is  a  medic ine  that  is

usual ly  g iven in t ravenously,  i t  resembles  the  normal  oxytoc in

which  is  produced  in  the  bra in  which  then  st imulates  the



uter ine muscle whereas Misoprosto l  is  a  tab let  that  is  usual ly

g iven  for  s tomach  ulcers.   I t  is  a  prostaglandin  agonist .  I t

means i t  acts l ike a prostaglandin.   

[44] He  says  prostaglandins  are  substances  which  a lso  st imulate

the  womb’s  musc les whereas  Misoprostol  is  a  tablet  that  can

be  given  in  var ious  ways.   I t  can  be  taken  by  mouth  as  a

sol id  tablet  or  par t  of  a  so l id  tablet  or  in  so lu t ion  form l ike  i t

was  given  to  th is  pat ient  or  i t  can  be  given  vaginal ly .

Precipitous labour  means  very  fast  labour ,  which  is  def ined  as

when  a  baby  is  ful ly  del ivered  wi th in  three  hours  af ter

contrac t ions have star ted.  

[45] He does not agree with Dr Koll on behalf of the defendant and opines that the

plaintiff  experienced  precipitous  labour.   He  says  that  hyper-stimulation

implies that the medicine that you have given to the patient to either induce

labour  or  augment  labour  causes five or  more contractions  in  10  minutes

whereas  others  say  more  than  five.   The  relevance  of  this  is  that  the

contractions are so frequent on each other that there is no time for that foetus

to  re-oxygenate  itself  and it  becomes hypoxic  meaning there should be a

resting phase between contractions so that  this  foetus can gather  enough

oxygen to feed its brain. He says Hypoxic means reduced oxygen delivery

being  the  process  s tarts  as  a  sub-threshold  procedure  or

inc ident  and  then  there  is  a  t ime  where  there  is  no  problem

and  then  again  a  sub-threshold  hypoxia  and  th is  then

accumulates at  the end and that causes the f ina l  in jury.  



[46] I t  is  preferable to have continuous electronic foetal monitoring, a continuous

monitoring of the foetal heart and contractions of the mother.  The  fa i lure

to  moni tor  as  you  should  diagnose  hyper-st imulat ion  which

could resul t  in  a  brain  insul t  ending in  a  brain  in jury.   He is  a

special is t  obstetr ic ian  but  these  guide l ines  are  not  only  for

nurses but  a lso for  doctors  work ing in  c l in ics,  level  1,  leve l  2

and level  3  hospi ta ls.  He a lso fo l lows  the guide l ines when he

is  in  pr ivate  pract ice.  He  uses  these  guide l ines  as  a  bib le.

Tocolys is  is  the  process  where  you  give  the  pat ient  who  is

having  hyper-st imulat ion  you  give  her  medic ine  which  is

g iven in travenously to  s top that  contract ion.  

[47] He  says  she  explained  that  she  started  gett ing  painfu l

contrac t ions  at  21h00,  so  that  means  that  the  Misoprosto l

was  now  start ing  to  give  her  proper  contract ions  but  a t

23h00,  11  o’c lock  i t  was  severe  pains  and  she  showed  him

with  her  hands,  i t  does  not  leave  me  she  says.  He  opines

they missed hyper-st imulat ion  of  the  uter ine muscle  and thus

they  d id  not  do  tocolysis  to  prevent  foeta l  hypoxia.   I f  they

had  d iagnosed  hyper-st imulat ion  and  immediate ly  informed

the  doctor  and  started  tocolys is  that  would  be  roundabout

23h00 and 23h30 when there was hyper-st imulat ion.  

[48] He  says  i f  they  had  noted  that  and  they  would  have  done

tocolys is  those  contrac t ions  would  have  disappeared  wi th in

10  minutes  or  so  that  is  the  t ime  when  they  should  have

intervened.   I f  they  diagnosed for hyper-stimulation through monitoring



and applied tocolysis no injury would have been sustained by the minor. The

fact that there are foetal movements does not imply a non-reassuring foetal

status.  He refers only to a heart rate that was recorded at 00:15 of 160 per

minute which is just indicative of a numeric value of the heart rate.  

[49] A normal heart rate for a foetus in labour is usually roundabout 135, 145 but

says without a CTG or factual monitoring by means of any other form of foetal

monitoring being a Doppler or foetus scope one cannot make an assumption.

He says he cannot  see  how  there  is  prolapse  of  the  uterus  or

the  pelv ic  f loor  and  how  that  can  induce  abrupt ion  p lacenta.

He  opines  i t  is  unexplainable  how  you  can  get  an  abrupt ion

with  a  pro lapse  or  laxi ty  of  the  pelv ic  f loor.  He  says  he  can

see  that  i t  has  a  ro le  in  prec ip i tous  labour  but  not  in  an

abrupt ion.  

[50]  He  says  the  th i rd  possib le  factor  for  abrupt ion  that  was

submit ted  is  that  of  hypertensive  disorders,  but  there  is  no

ind icat ion  in  the  c l in ica l  records  that  the  pat ient  suffered

from  hyper tensive  disorders  thus  h is  v iew  is  that  the  hyper-

st imulat ion  induced  the  p lacental  or  caused  the  placental

abrupt ion.  He  says  the blood pressure and the heart rate should have

changed with  a patient  in  strong or  hyper-stimulated labour  it  would have

been different.  He opines failure to monitor between 21h00 till 00h00 was the

reason for the disastrous end at the moment of the birth of, the occurrence of

an abruptio placenta which resulted in a severely compromised baby born and

such fa i lure to moni tor  was unreasonable.



[51]     Counsel for the defendant cross-examined the doctor. The doctor says

there

is no factual  records of hyper-stimulation but  during the interview with the

patient he says she explained to him the type of contractions she had and he

having been in practice a long time and has been in practice in the Gauteng

province as well for six years she explained or demonstrated severe pains

with her hands, and just by the way that the patient explained to him in words

and  in  gesture  it  indicated  that  the  patient  was  suffering  from  hyper-

stimulation.  He says she explicitly said that it was not the same as before

because  she  has  got  a  reference  point,  previous  labour  and  she

experienced this labour the pains as something totally different occurring

one on the other. 

 

[52]     He says CTG could be used to palpate the patient and in this case, it was

done until 21h30 and he wonders why it was not proceeded with. He opines it

was not been done as the staff would or should have recognised hyper-

stimulation and acted timeously so by not doing or acting timeously or 

diagnosing  hyper-stimulation  it  implied  that  CTG tracing  was  not  done  or

regular 

palpation was not done after 21h30 till delivery.  He says he might  not 

have  had  a l l  records  when  he  prepared  the  addendum  and

that  

as an obstetrician it was difficult to comment with any degree of certainty on



the aspect of negligence.

[53] The  pr imary  component  o f  the  asphyxia  in jury  occurred

dur ing  labour  whi le  the  pla int i f f  was  under  the  care  of  the

defendant .  He  says  the  antenatal  records  were  imperat ive  to

exclude  other  conditions  like  hypertension  that  might  cause  placental

abruption  thus  the  importance  to  go  through  the  abruption  of  antenatal

records  to  see  what  happened  during  the  pregnancy.  He  says  i t  was

total ly  impossible  for  h im  in  his  f i rst  report  to  say  that  there

was  precipi tous  labour  present  because  the  pat ient  was  not

aware  of  how  far  she  was  di la ted.  He  says  he  saw  a  CTG

without  a  name  which  refers  to  almost  the  same  t ime.  He

expla ins  that  af ter  21h30  there  was  no  CTG  yet  i t  was

imperat ive  to  cont inue  moni tor ing  with  CTG.  He  says  the

manner  the  pat ient  descr ibed  the  pains  is  precipitous labour is

most probably the result of uterine hyper-stimulation. He says because there

other CTG cannot be said to be that of this patient and that there was no CTG

after  21h30,  the  CTG  tracing  is  non-reassuring  and  indicative  of  non-

reassuring foetal status.

[54]   He says “Five decelerat ions dur ing the hour 

         per iod. These decelerat ions present var iable type 1 

 and  type  2  decelerat ions.”  and  th is  should  have  aler ted  the

nursing  staf f  to  inform the  doctor  o f  the  non-reassur ing CTG.

He  agrees  that  “Oral  Misoprostol  should  have  been  stopped  and  intrauterine



resuscitation should have been started by turning the mother on her left side giving oxygen,

six litres per minute by the facemask and the balance of intravenous”. He says he does

not  know  what  i t  was  before  contract ions  because  of  the

manner  in  which  the  nursing  personnel  records.  He  opines

precipitous labour  can cause abruption.   He says  i t  is  most  probably

precipi tous  labour  here  which  was  induced  by  the

Misoprostol .   He  denies  that  placental  abruption  can  be  caused  by

prolapse of the genital floor as opined by Dr Koll. He  says  i f  there  was

not  prec ip i tous  labour  there  might  not  have  been,  hyper-

st imulat ion  there  might  not  have been  prec ipi tous  labour  and

thus not p lacenta l,  abrupt ion p lacenta.

[55] He says the  CTG he did  not  re ly  on  did  not  have a  name and

counsel Mphahlele said that CTG trac ing was not  prov ided by

the  defendant .  Counsel  Myburgh  says  he  is  throwing  h is

jun ior  under  the  bus as  same was  provided  by  the  defendant

and  they  only  d iscovered  i t .  He  says  he  does  not  base  h is

f indings  on  the  adverse  CTG  only  but  on  the  probability or the

time  that  hyper-stimulation  most  probably  started  in  with  this  patient. He

says  “CTG  trac ing  99-105,  hand  paginated  67  p lus  68  done

on  25  February  2015  around  20:27  and  20:30  i t  was  non-

reassur ing  CTG.   A  total  of  f ive  decelerat ions  and  var iables

in  appearance  and  thus  ind icat ive  of  probable  umbil ical  cord

compression.”  He says the doctor  should have been informed

based  on  th is  in format ion  and  IUR  s tarted  and  augmentat ion

stopped.   He  says  there  is  no  factual  records  of  CTG trac ing



after  21h30  and  that  Misoprostol  was  adminis tered  between

21h30  and  23h30.  He  says  that is the period where hyper-stimulation

of the uterus could have started. He says that the cord around the neck

can  get  a  l i t t le  b i t  t ighter  and  i t  can  cause  hypoxia  but  i t

cannot  and  i t  d id  not  cause  an  acute  profound  in jury.   He

says Sub-threshold hypoxia versus severe hypoxia, there is a vast difference

between the two.  

[56] He  says  if  there  was  continuous  CTG  tracing  after  21:30  and  these

contractions were getting now more intensive and more frequent there would

have been signs of variable decelerations, but we cannot say that because we

do not have a CTG tracing after 21:30 so the effect of the contractions on a

cord around the neck whether it is once or twice or three times it will give you

on  CTG  tracing  the  picture  of  variable  decelerations.  Decelerat ions

occurr ing  before  a  contract ion,  af ter  a  contract ion,  before  a

contrac t ion, two or  three or af ter,  i t  is  var iab le,  i t  is  not l ike a

type  1  decelerat ion  which  is  when  there  is  a  contract ion  you

have  the  hear t  ra te  coming  down,  go ing  back,  a  type  2

decelerat ion  where  the  heart  drops  af ter  a  contract ion  and

then i t  goes back to  the  basel ine but  here  you have var iab le,

in between contract ions, everywhere and that  is  s ign if icant  to

inform you  that  there  is  a  constr ict ion  or  compression  of  the

umbil ical  cord.  

[57]   Counsel objec ted to the response which counsel 



 Myburgh  repl ied  i t  is  an  opin ion  wi th  the  cord  around  the

neck  as  he  had  expla ined  as  the  labour  process  carr ies  on

with  the  contract ions  the  cord  around  the  neck  can  become

t ighter  and  there  is  compression  on  the  vessels  with in  that

cord  especial ly  because  there  are  two  arter ies  in  a  cord  and

one  ve in.  The  vein  is  the  one  that  is  supply ing  the  oxygen.

When  you  are  born  the  ve ins  usual ly  carry  deoxygenated

blood  but  in  the  foetus  the  ve in,  carr ies  the  oxygen  f rom  the

placenta  to  the  foetus.   Now  that  can  get  compressed  in

between  contract ions  and  when  that  happens  there  is  sub-

threshold  hypoxia,  not  complete  hypoxia,  sub-threshold

because  the  contrac t ions  come  and  go  but  when  the

contrac t ions  become  more  frequent  i t  can  become  more

pronounced  so  that  is  what  sub-threshold  hypoxia  is.  He

agrees that the acute profound bra in  in jury was as a resul t  o f

the placenta l abrupt ion which was most  probably the resul t  o f

Misoprostol  induced prec ipi tous labour.

 

[58] He says that  he does not  agree wi th  Dr  Kol l  as there is no  

evidence that there was no uter ine hyper-st imulat ion present,

there  is  no  fac tual  record  of  e i ther  Doppler  or  foetal  scope,

foeta l  heart  ra te  moni tor ing as expected and ind icated by the

Guidel ines  of  Materni ty  Care,  the  foeta l  heart  ra te  should  be

monitored  hal f  an  hour ly  dur ing  the  act ive  phase  of  labour .

He  says  this partogram is a visual report of the progress of labour through



the active phase.   He says at  00:15  there  is  just  one  heart  ra te

recorded  and  i f  she  was  present  in  the  cubic le  there  should

have  been,  a  recording  of  a  hear t  ra te  ha l f  an  hour  later  or

even  bet ter ,  15  minutes  later .  He  asks  i f  she was  there,  why

was there only one heart  rate moni to r ing.

[59] He  says  there  is  no  moni tor ing,  no  ind icat ion  of  the  descent

of  where  the  foetal  head  was.She  should  have  examined  the

pat ient  and  fe l t  how  much  of  the  leg  is  st i l l  above  the  pubic

bone  or  the  symphysis.  He  says  there  is  nothing,  absolute ly

nothing.  He  opines  that  th is  pat ient  was  not  examined.  He

says  the  deduct ion  he  makes  from  this  is  that  the  patient  was  not

properly  monitored in  the  labour  rooms.    There  should  have  been

foeta l  heart  ra te  moni tor ing  hal f  an  hour  later  that  is  quar ter

to  1  and  a lso  most  probably  one  at  the  t ime  that  she

del ivered,  01:15.   He  says  i t  is  not  here  on  th is  partogram

and there  are  no  contract ions.  He  re i terated  that  the  midwife

does not  have to leave the pat ient as the f i le wi l l  be wi th her .

He  agrees  that  there  might  have  been  some  par t ia l  hypoxic

in jury.  

[60] In  re-examinat ion he says the pains descr ibed al igns wi th  h is

v iew.  He  says  the  cord  around  the  neck  was  an  insul t .  He

says  Labour is a hypoxic process, a labour process is hypoxic process. He

says h is  op in ion is  that  because of  the  hyper-st imulat ion  and

precipi tous  labour  the  pat ient  developed  the  abrupt ion  that

resul ted in  the  acute profound bra in  in jury.  He expla ined that



i f  they  had  moni tored  the  pat ient  as  they  should  have

according  to  Maternal  Guidel ines  and  they  would  have

t imeous ly  ident i f ied  hyper-st imulat ion,  d id  tocolysis  and

prevented  precipi tous  labour,  p lacental  abrupt ion  most

probably  would  not  have  occurred,  the  t ragic  outcome  would

not  have  taken  p lace.  He  says  that  in  the  act ive  phase  of

labour,  that  is  f rom four cent imetres t i l l  fu l l  d i lat ion the foeta l

heart  rate  should  be  moni tored  hal f  hour ly,  the  contract ions

should  be  moni tored  hal f  hour ly ,  the  descent  of  the  foetal

head  should  be  monitored  but  the  most  important  dur ing  that

t ime is  the foeta l  heart  ra te and the contract ions.   

 [61] Both  counsels  did  not  have  a  quest ion  on  the  cour t ’s

quest ion.  The  doctor  was  excused.  The  p la in t i f f  c losed  i ts

case  and  the  counsel  for  the  defendant  requested  that  the

matter  proceed  the  next  day  the  18 t h  o f  October  2022  at

10h00’ o ’c lock.

[62] Counsel  Mphahlele  SC  opens  the  defence  case  by  cal l ing

MONICA  NOMSUMBULUKO  SITHOLE,  she  was  sworn.  She

used  the  serv ice  of  Mr  Mogalane  a  sworn  in terpreter.  She

says  she  is  working  at  Pholosong  Hospi ta l  as  a  midwife.  Her

work  enta i ls  looking  after  expectant  mothers,  assis t ing  wi th

the  del ivery  of  babies,  g iv ing  prescr ibed  medicat ion  to

pat ients,  looking  af ter  de l ivered  babies  and  a lso  doing  work

al located  to  her  by  her  seniors  in  the  ward.  She  s tarted

working  as  a  midwife  in  2015.  She  obtained  a  d ip loma  in



nursing  in  2013.  She  says  in  2014  she  d id  community  heal th

service  at  Pholosong  Hospi ta l .  She  says  her  d ip loma  is  a

four-year d ip loma

course,  which  entai ls  midwi fery ,  psychiatry,  community

health courses and others.  

[63] She says on the 25 t h  o f  February she was on the second shi f t

and arr ived at  work around 19h00.  She says a repor t  is  g iven

by those knocking off  about the pat ients,  they move from one

pat ient  to  another.  They s ign a register  that  they are on duty.

They  proceed  to  check  drugs,  check  the  emergency  t ro l ley

and  prepare  a l l  the  utensi ls  or  what  is  needed  in  the

execut ion  of  the ir  dut ies  for  the  day.  She  says  she  was

stat ioned  in  the  matern ity  ward  for  mothers  who  are  in  the

process to del iver and that was 9B. She says the labour ward

is  adjacent  to the materni ty  ward i t  takes two minutes to  walk

there and she was working there on the day in quest ion.

[64] She  says  that  the  layout  is  a  b ig  ward  wi th  two  cubic les  and

three  sidewards.  She  says  on  the  side  there  would  be  a  wal l

separate  up  to  the  end  of  th is  wi tness  stand  and  then  there

would  be  a  passage  then  on  the  other  s ide  of  the  wal l  there

would  be  another  cubic le .  Also  there,  would  be  a  wal l

separat ing,  the  passage  wi l l  go  down  accord ing ly .  She  says

there  is  no  wal l  between  the  cubic les  and  the  passage.  She

says  one  cubic le  has  nine  beds.  The  staf f  was  made  up  of  a



senior,  two  juniors,  two  comserve  and  a  s taf f  nurse.  Her

cubic le  was  seven  by  seven  meters  and  the  beds  were  c lose

to each other .  Pat ients could hear as people ta lk.  The pat ient

in  casu  was  in  her  cubic le.  Her  name  is  s imi lar  to  hers  but

she  is  not  re lated  to  the  p la in t i f f  ne i ther  d id  she  know  her

pr ior that day. 

[65] She  says  work ing  on  pat ient  number  one  entai ls  taking  the

his tory  of  the  pat ient ,  checking  her  how she  is  as  to  whether

she  has  pains  that  she  is  exper iencing  and  then  checking

whether  the  ch i ld  in  the  womb  is  p lay ing  and  in  general  any

other  compla in t .  She  says  when  done  wi th  the  history  f rom

the pat ient ,  she wi l l  do a physica l assessment wi th  the hands

and  check  v i ta l  s igns.  In  the  event ,  the  pat ient  complained

that  she  is  exper iencing  pain  she  wi l l  do  PE  vaginal

examinat ion.

[66] She  wi l l  g ive  prescribed  medicat ion  i f  any  and  focus  on  the

baby  us ing  a  cardiograph  machine  which  checks  the  heart

rate  of  the  ch i ld  in  the  womb.  She says  i f  a l l  is  wel l ,  she wi l l

move  to  the  next  pat ient .  However ,  i f  there  are  any

abnormali t ies  thereon,  she  wi l l  phone  the  doctor.  She  wi l l

cause  the  mother  to  l ie  on  a  lef t  lateral  posi t ion  for

resusci ta t ion of  the  baby in  the womb and then she wi l l  go to

the  next  pat ient.  She  says  she  repeats  the  same  process

moving a long to the next  pat ient.



[67]  She  says  i t  is  important  to  check  pains  as  some  have  fa lse

labour  pa ins.  She  says  CTG  is  a  trac ing.  I t  is  referred  to  as

react ive.  I t  can be any of  the four  features,  a  basel ine of  110

to  160,  there  has  to  be  that  beat  var iabi l i ty  o f  not  less  than

f ive  beats  per  minute,  there  has  to  be  accelerat ions  and

there  ought  not  to  be  decelerat ions.  She  says  when  supra  is

not  present  the  CTG  is  non-assur ing  maybe  two  or  three  of

those  being  referred  to  are  absent  we  refer  to  i t  as

pathological t racing.  The r ight  way to  check the hear t  rate of

a  ch i ld  is  by  us ing  a  CTG  machine.  She  says  in  the  two

cubic les they had three CTG machines.  When she started her

shi f t  there  were  33  pat ients.  She  says  al l  pat ients  must  be

put  on  the  CTG  machine  and  thei r  names  must  be  punched

into  the  machine  and in  the  event ,  you  forget  you  must  wr i te

the name by hand.

[68]    Counsel  refers  the  nurse  to  the  tr ia l  bundle  and  she

ident i f ied

the  document  as  the  c l in ica l  card  which  the  pat ient  wi l l  use

whi ls t  at tending  c l inic  unt i l  she  del ivers.  She  read  that  i t

belongs  to  K  S,  hospi ta l  number  was  790505,  date  of  b i r th

1979/05/05,  address  […],  Extension[…].  She  a lso  read  that  in

2005  K  gave  a  normal  de l ivery  of  a   boy  baby,  3 .5  k i lograms

being the  weight  o f  that  ch i ld  and  there  were  no  compl icat ions.

She  says  the  pat ient  was  on  induct ion  which  started  on  the

25 t h  February.  She  acknowledged  a  document  she  is  be ing



referred  to  by  counsel  and  that  one  of  the  s ignatures  that

appears is  hers.  She says on the 25 t h  a t  09:30 in  the morning

she  was  star ted  wi th  10  mi l l i l i t res  be ing  a  low dose  and  then

again  at  11:30  she  was  given  10  mi l l i l i t res,  once  on  13:30

being  10  mi l l i l i t res  and  then  at  15:30  she  was  given  20

mil l i l i t res.   At  17:30  she  was  g iven  20  mi l l i l i t res  and  then  at

19:30, i t  was 20 mi l l i l i t res and again on 21h00 unt i l  23:30. 

[69] She  checked  whether  the  previous  t rac ing  was  done  because

before  she  would  have  to  check  the  hear tbeat  o f  the  chi ld  then

having  sat is f ied  herse l f  that  there  were  no  abnormal i t ies  she

dispensed  wi th  that  dosage  and  then  i t  was  af ter  the  mother

had  sa id  that  she  does  not  have  any  pains.  She  says  you

dispense  wi th  th is  Misoprosto l  as  long  as  the  mother  does  not

have pains  unt i l  when  she  remarks  that  she  is  in  pa in  and then

you  check  what  is  the  d i la t ion.  She  says  once  you  have

sat is f ied  yourse l f  that  she  is  now  in  labour  you  dispense  wi th

Misoprosto l .  She  says  the  last  dosage  was  at  23h30  and  no

dosage  was  g iven  at  01h30.  She  stopped  the  dosage  after

check ing  pat ient  and  found  that  she  was  four  cent imetres

di lated.  She  says  she  then  t ransferred  her  to  the  labour

ward.

[70] She read the deta i ls being 35 years old  para 1  gravida 2 who

was  attending  c l in ic  at  Calco  Dlepu,  she  star ted  having

labour  pains  at  21h30  she  received  her  last  dosage  of

Misoprostol .  She  says  she  then  completed  documentat ion  as



required.  She  says  the  water  had  not  broken  and  was  st i l l  in

the  membranes.  She  says  she  checked  the  pat ient  and

recorded  that   Rhesus  was  pos it ive  which  is  normal,  syphi l is

test  was non-react ive,  negat ive and as  she was HIV  posi t ive ,

i t  was  recorded  act ive  and  she  was  on  hear t  t reatment .  She

says  she  asked  the  pat ient  about  pains  which  she  sa id  were

not  so  st rong.  She  says  she  d id  general  examinat ion  on  the

pat ient  and  recorded  her  pu lse  as  100,  BP  at  130/87,  40

weeks,  pa lp i tat ion  being  39  and  presentat ion  being  cephal ic

(head).  She  says  she  palpated  the  tummy  and  real ised  that

the  pains  were  moderate  not  severe.  She  says  before  the

las t  dosage  the  pat ient  is  put  on  the  CTG  and  in  th is  case

she  did  put  her  on  CTG.  She  could  not  say  where  the  said

CTG resul ts  were.  She says the chi ld  was coming normal and

the  head  was  vertex.  Af ter  a  lengthy  d iscussion  the  part ies

agreed that the CTG without  a name should be disregarded. 

[71] She  says in  the  cubic le  doing  her  dut ies  and in  the  event  the

pat ient  was  in  severe pain she would  have informed her.  She

was  in formed  that  K  said  she  was  g iven  a  bot t le  of

Misoprostol  that  she  was  to  dr ink  every  four  hours  and  she

said  i t  is  seven  years  ago  she  cannot  recal l  but  usual ly  i t  is

two hours. She says she would not  have del ivered the pat ient

wi thout  the  latest  CTG  resul t  that  is  react ive  when  to ld  that

pat ient says i t  was not  done af ter  21h30.  She denies that  she

lef t  the  pat ient  at  the  door  of  the  labour  ward  to  ta lk  to  the



midwives  in  the  labour  ward.  She  asked  which  door  was  the

pat ient  le f t  a t  and  ul t imately  says  she  did  not  leave  her  at  a

door.  She  denied  not  g iv ing  reasonable  care  and  says  she

did  what  was  expected  of  her  in  the  ci rcumstances.  That

ended examinat ion in ch ief .  

[72] Cross-examinat ion  began,  she  says  there  were  33  pat ients

when  she  star ted  to  work  and  when  she  was  knocking  of f

they were 4.  The repor t  was received from the outgoing staf f .

She  says  they  also  prepare  a  report  when  they  leave  for

those  that  wi l l  be  start ing  the ir  shi f t .  She  says  she  got  the

information  f rom the  l i t igat ion  department.  She  says  par ts  of

her  test imony  are  what  she  recal ls  and  what  she  genera l ly

does  in  her  workspace.  She  says  she  personal ly  recal ls

ta lk ing  to  K  and  monitor ing  the  baby.  She  says  Maternal

Guidel ines  says  a  pat ient  who  is  on  Misoprosto l  must  be  on

cont inuous  foeta l  moni tor ing  at  two  hour  ra te.  She  says  the

pat ient  was  not  moni tored  wi th  CTG  machine  at  two  hours  as

there  were  other  pat ients  that  needed  the  machine.  She  says

she  adminis tered  the  Misoprosto l  a t  19h30  as  the  CTG  had

been  done.  She  says  she  d id  t racing  at  past  23h00  but  that

recording  is  missing  in  the  f i le .  She says i f  i t  is  normal  there  is

no  need  to  record.  She  says  not  a l l  the  t ime  do  they  give

pat ients  Misoprosto l  to  admin is ter  themselves.  She says she  is

in  the  cubic le  and  the  pat ient  would  be  done  CTG  pr ior  the

admin is ter ing  of  Misoprosto l .  She refused  to  answer  where  she



was not  on  duty  to  show that  no  t rac ing  ex is ted.  She  says  wi th

her  before  she adminis ters  Misoprostol  she wi l l  ensure  that  the

CTG resul ts  are  obta ined.  She  recorded  that  the  pat ient  was  in

labour  s ince  19h30  as  to ld  by  the  pat ient .  She  says  she  wi l l

s t i l l  check  the  pat ient  as  i t  is  not  fa i r  to  mere ly  re ly  on  what

the  pat ient  sa id .  She  says  the  pat ient  was  in  the  act ive  phase

of  labour  s ince  21h30  as  per  her  record.  She  says  she  did  the

fu l l  assessment  a t  00h15  and  the  ef fect  o f  us ing  CTG  is  to

check  hear t ra te.  She  says  she  did  v i ta l  s igns,  abdominal

examinat ion  and  PV  being  temperature,  b lood  pressure,

temperature,  pulse.   

[73] When confronted about  the  s imi lar  v i ta l  resul ts  she says  i t  is

odd  but  does  not  know  why,  she  took  others  whereas  others

were  taken by  a staf f  nurse.  She says that  the readings were

indeed  h igher  before  labour .  Counsel  put  to  her  that  she  d id

not  take  the  v i ta ls  but  recorded  them  af ter  the  pat ient  was

transferred  to  the  labour  ward.  She  says she could  not  recal l

whether  the  bott le  of  Misoprostol  was  g iven  or  that  she

admin is tered i t .  She conceded that  she could not  deny that  K

was  given  the  bott le  to  admin is ter  hersel f .  She  says  the

records  or  ent i re  f i le  goes  miss ing  at  t imes.  She  says  the

tracing  would  have  revealed  that  there  was  hyper-

st imulat ion.   But  same  is  not  avai lable.  She  conceded  that

she test i f ied about what she d id  not recal l  but  she was te l l ing

the  honest  t ru th.  She  denies  that  the  monitor ing  was



inadequate  between  21h30  and  24h00.  She  says  al l  pat ients

under  induct ion  are  moni tored  and  Ms  S  was  moni tored  l ike

al l  o ther pat ients.  

[74] She  says a  statement  that  when  not  in  labour  you should  not

monitor  is  fa lse.  She says Misoprosto l  is  s topped as  soon as

the  pat ient  is  in  labour  act ive.  She  agrees  that  she

admin is tered  Misoprostol  a t  23h20  and  she  s igned.  She

denies  that  she  would  record  fa lse  information.  She  accepts

that  Misoprosto l  was  administered  whi ls t  was  a lready  in

labour  however  says  she  was  the  only  nurse  in  the  cubic le

wi th  many  pat ients  and  i t  was  00h15  that  she  arr ived  at  the

pat ient  k .  She says that  is  when she learned of the pains and

she  was  then  t ransferred  to  the  labour  ward.  She  says  she

did  put  the  pat ient  on  CTG then proceeded wi th  other  dut ies.

She  says  she  cannot  recal l  that  she  gave  K  Misoprosto l  or

that  she  took  i t  hersel f .  I t  was  put  to  her  that  the  record  is  a

copy  of  what  had  t ranspired  ear l ier ,  she  refuted  that.  Cross-

examinat ion ended.

[75] Counsel  Mphahlele  proceeded  to  re-examine;  she  says  she

handed  over  the  patient  to  the  labour  ward  nurses  inside  the

ward.  She  says  there  is  no  d i f ference  between  moni tor ing

and assessment.  Court  asked quest ions to  c lar i fy .  Ms  S says

that  Misoprosto l  might  have been taken before she arr ived at

the  pat ient.  She  says  she  was  the  only  nurse  al located  the

cubic le .  There  are  four  cubic les  wi th  two  nurses,  two



comserve  and  a  staf f  nurse.  Both  counsel  were  g iven  an

opportun i ty  to  ask  quest ions  on  the  court ’s  quest ions.

Counsel  Myburgh  for  the  p la in t i f f  decl ined  and  Counsel

Mphahle le  asked.  Ms  S  expla ined  that  the  comserve  would

be  assis t ing  the  mothers  that  would  have  del ivered  babies.

She  says  the  other  nurse  and  her  would  be  car ing  for  the

high-r isk  pregnant  mothers  whi lst  the  staf f  nurse  would  be

tak ing  v i ta ls  for  a l l  cubic les.  Counsel  Mphahlele  conc luded

his  re-exam.  The  matter  was  adjourned  to  the  19 t h  day  of

October  2022 for  fur ther  ev idence.

[76] The matter  proceeded and counsel  for  the defence requested

that  the  matter  be  heard  vi r tua l ly.  The  appl icat ion  was

vehemently  opposed.  The  appl icat ion  was  denied  and  the

matter  was  adjourned  to  the  21 s t  day  of  October  2022  as  the

exper t  was  arr iv ing  f rom  overseas.  Costs  to  be  costs  in  the

cause. 

[77] On  the  21 s t  day  of  October  2022  the  defence  proceeded  to

cal l  Dr  Peter  Charles  Kol l  who  was  sworn  in .  He  says  he  is  a

gynaecologist  who  has  a  gynaecologica l  pract ice  where  he

l ives at  Har tbeespoor t  dam. He says he consul ts pat ients and

operates  on  pat ients  in  Johannesburg  one  day  a  week.   He

says  he  is  qual i f ied  wi th  an  undergraduate  degree  from

Univers i ty  o f  Cape  Town  in  1979  and  he  is  qual i f ied  as  a

member  and was  admi t ted  as  a  member  of  the  Royal  Col lege

of  Obstetr ic ians  and  Gynaecologis ts  in  1988.  He  was



elevated  to  the  fe l lowship  in  2003.   He  says  that  i n  England

you do not  automat ical ly  become a fe l low of  the Royal  Col lege,

you  become a  member  in i t ia l ly  and  then  af ter  about  15  years  i f

they  are  happy  wi th  everyth ing  you  have  done  they  inv i te  you

to  come  to  London  and  be  e levated  to  the  fe l lowship  unl ike  in

South  Afr ica  where  you  become  a  fe l low  upon  passing  your

exams. 

[78] His  exper ience entai ls  a  house job at  Edendale Hospita l  near

Pietermar i tzburg  where  he  d id  s ix  months  of  medic ine,  s ix

months  of  surgery  and  six  months  of  obstetr ics  and

gynaecology.   He  then  did  compulsory  mi l i tary  service  and

was  p laced  on  the  Swazi land  border  where  he  ran  rura l

c l in ics  and  a  rural  hospi ta l  so  for  two  years.  He  was

pract is ing  rural  obstetr ics  wi th  the  nearest  major  hospi ta l

some  120  ki lometres  away.   He  says  i t  was  an  ext remely

good  exper ience.   He  says  af ter  that  he  jo ined  Chris  Hani

Baragwanath  Hospi ta l  as  a  senior  house  of f icer  in  obstetr ics

and  gynaecology  for  s ix  months  and  then  jo ined  the  c i rcui t

where  you rotate  through a l l  the  hospi ta ls  for  f ive  years.   He

says af ter  h is  exams he worked as  a  consultant  for ,  jus t  over

a  year  on  a  fu l l - t ime  bas is .   He  says  he  then  went  in to

pr ivate  pract ice  and  he  cont inued  as  a  part  par t - t ime

consul tant  a t  Chr is  Hani  Baragwanath  Hospi ta l  for  about  10

years.  



[79] He says he pract ised in pr ivate prac t ice for  jus t  over  30 

years.   He  s topped  del iver ing  babies  three  years  ago  but

st i l l  see  antenata l  pat ients  but  on ly  up  to  24  weeks  of

pregnancy  and  then  hand  them  over  to  co l leagues  in

Johannesburg.  He says the last  baby he del ivered was three

years  ago and  that  was  his  grandchi ld .  He  says  he  has  been

giv ing  ev idence in  cour t  for  about  ten  to  twenty  t imes  but  for

the  past  f ive  years,  he  has not .  He was di rected to  his  repor t

which  he  recognised  and  says  he  prepared  i t ,  in  2019.  He

says  the  pat ient  presented  at  about  20  weeks  of  pregnancy,

wi th  noth ing  s ign i f icant  a t  presentat ion,  her  second pregnancy,

f i rs t  pregnancy  ended  in  a  normal  vaginal  del ivery,  was  known

HIV  posi t ive  and  she  was  a lso  found  to  be  s l ight ly  anaemic

dur ing  the  pregnancy.   There  were  no  sign i f icant  antenata l

factors.  

[80] Counsel  Myburgh  a l luded  to  a  document  the  wi tness  took  out

of  h is  pocket .  The  wi tness  descr ibed  as  h is  notes  f rom  h is

repor t .  He  proceeded  to  say  the  next  entry  was  on  23

September  2015  at  15:30  where  she  presented  wi th

backache  and  a  show.   The  haemoglobin  was  found  to  be

9.3,  the  present ing  part  was  high  and  she  was  referred  to

hospi ta l .   The  haemoglobin  was  checked  and  i t  was  10.2

which  is  very  mi ld ly  anaemic  and  he  says  he  d id  not  th ink  of

any  par t icu lar  s igni f icance  in  th is  case.  He  says

Haemoglobin  is  basical ly  the  concentrat ion of  red  blood cel ls



in  your  blood.   There  is  numerous  causes  why  haemoglobin

would  be  low.   Pregnancy  is  one  cause.   There  is  a

haemodi lu t ion  in  pregnancy  in  o ther  words  the  ent i re  b lood

volume expands by  about  30  percent  dur ing  a  pregnancy and

the  volume  of  the  f lu id  expands  a  l i t t le  b i t  more  than  the

volume  of  the  red  blood  ce l ls  so  you  get  a  physio log ical

haemodi lu t ion  so  pregnant  women’s  haemoglobin  tend  to  be

sl ight ly  lower  than  people  who  are  not  pregnant .   In  severe

cases  i t  can  af fect  oxygen  del ivery  but  in  a  mi ld  case  l ike  th is

he  does  not  be l ieve  that  anaemia  was  a  very  s ign i f icant .  He

says the  lower  l imi t  is  11  and the  pat ient  was 10.2  which  is  not

s ign i f icant ly  low haemoglobin.

 [81] He  says  that  she  was  assessed  at  18h00  and  informed  that

she  was  two  cent imetres  d i la ted.  She  remained  at  the

hospi ta l .  On  24  February  at  09h00  the  pat ient  was  assessed

by  a  doctor,  he  noted  that  the  CTG  that  is  the

cardiotocograph  was  react ive  which  would  indicate  no

evidence  of  hypoxia  at  that  s tage.  He  further  noted  that  he

recorded  that  she  was  42  weeks,  three  cent imetres  di la ted

but  not  in  act ive  labour .  In  such  instances  the  induct ion

would  be  done.  He  says  a  non-stress  test  was  done  which

means  a  card io tocograph  at  16h40  on  the  24 t h .  He  says  i t  is

important  to  ment ion  that  NST  is  done  in  pat ient  who  is  not

having  act ive  contract ions .  He  says  the  the  foeta l  heart  at

16:40  was  assessed  as  between  120  and  140,  a t  19h00  she



was  again  assessed  and  found  to  be  two  cent imetres  di la ted

in  other  words  there  had  been  absolutely  no  progress  in

labour  from  the  t ime  she  was  admit ted  unt i l  then  and  the

decis ion  was  taken  qui te  r ight ly  in  his  op in ion  to  proceed

with  the induct ion of labour.   

[82] He  says the  process of  induct ion  was  star ted  the  next  day at

09h30  wi th  the  administer ing  of  Misoprostol  as  per  protocol .

The  f i rst  dose  was  g iven  at  09h30  at  two  hour ly  rate  unt i l

23h30.  He  says  the  sl ight  lower  dosage  was  used.  He  says

the  next  assessment  was  at  00h15  which   indicates  that  the

foeta l  hear t  was  react ive  on  a  CTG,  therefore  reassur ing  hear t

pat tern.  He  says  there  is  a  comment  that  the  pat ient  was  on

CTG  but  he  d id  not  have  s ight  o f  the  t rac ing.  The  pat ient  was

in  act ive  labour  phase  and  had  progressed  wel l  a t  four

cent imetres  and  had  passed  the  la tent  phase.  He  says  that  i f

there  a  protocol  that  the  pat ient  is  not  admi t ted  to  the  labour

ward wi thout  a  t rac ing of  CTG that  is  a good protocol .

[83] He  says  a  note  at  00:15  ind icates  a  normal  foetal  hear t ,

membranes  were  intact  and  contract ions  were  recorded  as

moderate  and  three  in  10  minutes  and  a  moderate

contrac t ion  is  a  contract ion  last ing  between  20  and  40

seconds  so  when  we  ta lk  about  how  strong  contract ions  are

and  the  s trength  of  contrac t ions .  He  says  i t  is  important  to

point  out  that  we  cannot  actual ly  measure  and  quant i tate  the

strength  of  a  uter ine  contract ion.  They  can  measure  is



durat ion  and  f requency,  20  to  40  seconds  is  regarded  as  a

moderate  contract ion  and  three  contract ions  in  10  minutes  is

regarded as  normal .   More  than f ive  contract ions  in  10  minutes

is  regarded  as  hyper-st imulat ion  so  the  record ing  was  of

normal  contract ions  and  a  normal  foeta l  hear t  a t  00:15.  T he

next  entry  was  at  01h00  that  ind icates  that  the  pat ient  was

ful ly  d i lated  and  next  to  that  on  the  por togram a  wr i t ten  note

ind icat ing  del ivered  a  male  infant,  f loppy,  p lus  Apgar  2  out

10  and  2  out  o f  10.   That  is  a  markedly  depressed  neonate

with  s igni f icant ly low Apgar scores.

[84] He  says  the  pat ient  was  fu l ly  d i la ted  at  01h00,  that  bear ing

down  began  at  01h00  and  that  the  baby  del ivered  at  01:10.  He

says  that  the  foetal  hear t  is  noted  as  present  and  i t  is  noted

that  foeta l  d ist ress  was  present .  He  noted  that  a  normal

vaginal  de l ivery  of  an  al ive  male  in fant  born  wi th  only

heartbeat  and gasping respirat ion,  compl icat ions ind icate the

cord  around  the  neck  two  t imes,  t ight  and  two  retroplacental

c lo t ,  under  resusci tat ion  done  which  indicates  that  the  baby

was  suct ioned  and  oxygen  g iven  v ia  nasal  prongs  and  the

bir th  weight  was  noted  at  3880  which  is  with in  the  normal

range.  He  says  the  p lacenta l  weight  was  noted  to  be  790

grams and four th  s tage  of  labour  noted that  baby was admi t ted

to 6A for  severe bi r th  asphyxia.  



 [85] He  says  the  notes  record  that  the  baby  was  severe ly

depressed at  b i r th,  that  the  cord was t ight ly  around the neck.

That  he  or  she  suct ioned  to  c lear  the  ai rways  and  that  the

baby was bagged to  s t imulate  vent i la t ion.  That  the baby was

gasping  wi th  no  symmetr ica l  chest  movement ,  card iac

massage  was  necessary  and  the  author  requested  that  the

paediat r ic  doctor  be not i f ied.  He notes  that  resuscitat ion was

cont inued  for  f ive  minutes  when  the  baby  was  put  on  nasal

prong  oxygen  and  kept  warm.   He  says  the  condi t ion  was

expla ined  to  the  mother  that  the  baby’s  condit ion  was  not

improving and they awai t  the doctor to assess the pat ient.  He

says that  there was no record keeping as requi red hour ly and

the only  indicat ion  is  the  f i rs t  phase and the  second phase is

not re f lec ted.

[86] He  says  there  should  a lso  have  been  wr i t ten  notes  per ta in ing

to  moni tor ing  and  assessments  dur ing  that  per iod  that  the

pat ient  was  receiv ing  Misoprosto l  and  other  than  the  CTG

which  some  are  leg ible ,  some  are  not ,  o ther  than  the  CTG’s

there  is  no  other  notes  per ta in ing  to  that  per iod  and  again  that

is  not  what  one  would  expect .  He  says  there  should  have  been

bet ter  note-keeping  on  maternal  and  foeta l  wel lbeing  in  the

wr i t ten  notes  and  not  just  on  the  CTGs.  In  conclus ion,  he

opines  there  is  no  evidence  of  foeta l  d is t ress  in  any  of  the

CTG  trac ings  that  he  was  provided  wi th .   The  last  t rac ing  is

noted  to  be  at  the  t ime  that  the  second  last  dose  of



Misoprosto l  was  g iven,  and  no  contract ions  are  evidenced  on

that  t rac ing  meaning  there  were  no  deviat ions  in  that  basel ine

and  HIV  status  i t  is  unl ikely  that  i t  had  a  s ign i f icant  in f luence.

He  says  there  is  no  wr i t ten  notes  in  the  bundle  per ta in ing  to

assessments  made  dur ing  the  induct ion  of  labour ,  no  record  of

foeta l  wel lbe ing  between  21:30  and  del ivery  at  00:10.  The

baby  was  severe ly  depressed  at  the  t ime  of  b i r th  and  the

note records a  ret roplacental  c lo t  which  ind icates a condi t ion

cal led  abrupt io  placentae  where  the  placenta  separates  from

the  uter ine  wal l  and  a  b lood  clot  develops  between  the

uter ine  wal l  and  the  placenta  was  present  and  that  the  cord

was  wrapped t ight ly  around the  baby’s  neck.   I t  is  a lso  noted

that  the  l iquor  aspira ted  f rom  the  baby’s  upper  respi ra tory

t ract  was c lear .   

  [87] He  says  Meconium-sta ined  l iquor  is  when  the  baby  passes

stool  in to  the  l iquor,  the  l iquor  is  the  water  around  baby  and

babies  commonly  do  that ,  i t  is  associated  wi th  foetal

d is tress.   I t  is  somet imes  passed  in  the  absence  of  foetal

d is tress  and  sometimes  not  present  wi th  an  acute  foetal

d is tress  episode  so  the  absence  of  meconium  would  suppor t

a  more  acute,  sudden  acute  insul t  ra ther  than  a  par t ia l

pro longed  insul t .  He  opines  that  MRI  scan  indicates  that  the

most  l ikely  cause is  an acute profound,  a  sudden acute insul t

to  the  baby  which  would  be  compat ib le  wi th  the  nuchal  cord



and  the  abrupt io  p lacentae.   He  says  that  shunt ing  of  b lood

is  when  the  Baby  moves  blood  from  non-essent ia l  organs  to

the  hear t  and  the  bra in .   He  opines  that  in  th is  case  the

hypoxic  in jury  appears  to  have  been  basal  gangl ia  which  is

compatib le with an acute profound insul t .   

[88] He  says  an  acute  insu l t  is  a  sudden  lack  of  oxygen  to  the

bra in  which  i f  i t  prevents  shunt ing  of  b lood  wi th in  the  bra in

then  the  basal  gangl ia  is  af fected  and  there  is  re la t ive

spar ing  of  the  cor tex because the  basal  gangl ia  require  more

oxygen  than  the  cortex.  He  says  that  there  is  no  ev idence  of

hyper-st imulat ion  at  00:15  that  is  in  the  contemporaneous

notes.  He says we have  ev idence of  two  acute  profound  insul ts

that  could  potent ia l ly  cause  th is  type  of  bra in  in jury  so  we

have  got  good  foeta l  wel lbeing  at  00:15.   We  have  got  a

compromised  baby  wi th  a  cord  t ight ly  around  the  neck,  a

separat ion  of  the  placenta  both  of  which  caused  acute

profound  in jury  and  we  have  got  rad iologis t  repor t ing  acute

profound  in jury  so  to  me  the  logica l  conclus ion  is  that  the

abrupt ion  and  the  nuchal  cord,  exact ly  what  propor t ion  each

one  contr ibuted  is  impossib le  to  assess  but  wi th  two  severe

acute  profound  insul ts  wi th  ev idence  of  two  severe  acute

profound  insul ts  and  an  acute  profound  in jury  he  does  not

understand  how  any  other  conclus ion  can  be  drawn.  Counsel

Mphahlele  ends h is  examinat ion in  chief .  

[89] Counsel  Myburgh begins wi th  c ross-examinat ion, Dr  ko l l  says



he  has  good  exper ience  t ra in ing,  he  del ivered  h is  f i rst  baby,

in  1977  or  so,  and  in  1976  he  was  involved  in  publ ic

hospi ta ls ,  later  rura l  hospi ta ls  dur ing  his  mi l i tary  service  and

publ ic  hospi ta ls,  another  10  years  as  a  par t- t ime  consul tant

wi th  Chr is  Hani  Baragwanath  and  then  fo l lowing  that  as  an

external  examiner  at  Wi ts  Univers i ty  up  unt i l  a  few  years

ago.   He  says  once  a  pat ient  is  in  act ive  phase  of  labour

there  is  no  reason  not  to  manage  a  pat ient ,  i f  the  hospi ta l  is

adequate ly  s ta f fed  and  he  did  not  know  what  the  s i tuat ion

was  or  the  protocols  a t  Pholosong  Hospi ta l  but  he  would

think  that  there  is  no  reason  why  a  pat ient  cannot  be

monitored  in  an  antenata l  cubic le .   He  says  Protocols  vary

f rom  hospi ta l  to  hospi ta l ,  he  has  never  worked  at  Pholosong

hospi ta l .  He  says  the  pat ient  should  be  t ransferred  before  she

is  ready  to  de l iver .  This  is  in  act ive  phase  of  labour  four

cent imetres  d i la ted  wi th  regular  contract ions  wi th  progressive

di la t ion  of  cerv ix .  He  concedes  that  he  did  not  d iscuss  the

protocol  to  t ransfer  a t  four  cent imetres in  h is  repor t .  

[90] He  says  that  he  presumes  noth ing  i f  there  are  no  records  on

moni tor ing.  He  says  that  he  ind icated  that  he  was  not  happy

with  the  record  keeping  but  ind icated  that  due  to  the

progress ive  nature  of  asphyxia  in  labour  that  i f  we  had  a

normal  heart  ra te  at  21:37  and  we  have  a  normal  heart  rate

at  00:15,  a  normal  react ive  trac ing  because  of  the

progress ive  nature  of  the  hypoxic  s tress  on  the  baby  in



labour  i t  is  ext remely  un l ike ly  that  severe  foeta l  d is t ress

occurred  that  caused  the  bra in  in jury  and  miraculously

recovered.   He says react ive means a reassur ing foetal  hear t

rate  t rac ing  in  other  words  with  a  normal  basel ine,  normal

var iabi l i ty ,  and  no  decelerat ions.  When  asked  where  that

t racing  was  he  said  i t  was  not  there.  He  again  concedes  that

the  nurse  recorded  a  react ive  CTG  but  he  did  not  see  i t .  He

says that  he assumed that  the CTG was per formed at  that  t ime

unless  the  sis ter  entered  a  f raudulent  note  which  is  not  h is

exper t ise  and  he  thought  i t  was  reasonable  to  assume  i t  was

done  wi thout  having  s ight  thereof .  He  says  i n  the  notes  the

way  most  people  would  record  i t  is  react ive  which  would

ind icate  that  i t  is  reassur ing,  i f  there  were  var iab le

decelerat ions,  they  would  say  var iable.   I f  there  were  no

decelerat ions, they would say react ive.  

[91] He  says  react ive  impl ies  that  they  looked,  a t  the

basel ine  f igure  which  is  not  recorded  as  a  range,  i f

var iabi l i ty  is  more  than  f ive  beats  per  minute,  the  up

and  down  then  i t  is  regarded  that  as  a  normal

var iabi l i ty .   He  says i f  the  CTG at  00h15  was  for  the

one  done  at  21h37  then  i t  would  be  unrel iable  and

have  no  reference  at  a l l .  He  says  i t  would  be

fraudulent,  but  he  did  not  see  i t  as  such  cl in ical ly  i t

does  not  make  sense.  He  says  he  is  re ly ing  on  the

contemporaneous  records  as  he  sees  them,  has  no



reason  to  doubt  c l in ical  records  and  he  is  not

absolute ly  cer ta in .  He  says  that  he  was  never

provided  wi th  the  records  thus  he  wrote  in  h is  repor t

“ I t  is  thus  essent ia l  that  every  ef for t  is  made  to  f ind

these records.

[92] He  says the  fact  that  the  records  were  not  provided does not

mean they d id  not  exis ts  and qual i f ies  h is  answer  as  fo l lows,

he noted dur ing the induct ion per iod that there were no notes

and  he  stated  that,  that  is  not  acceptable,  that  there  should

have been notes regarding the moni tor ing but there no CTG’s

per ta in ing  to  that  t ime  so  i t  is  known  that  some  moni tor ing

was  done  dur ing  that  t ime  so  the  absence  of  the  record ing

does not  mean  that  those CTG’s  do  not  ex is t  so  the  absence

of  wr i t ing  notes  is  bad  and  i t  should  have  happened  but  i t

does  not  conf irm  that  there  was  no  moni tor ing.  He  says  that

he is not  an invest igator and despi te that,  there was a lack of

information  he  did  not  deem  i t  necessary  to  consul t  wi th  the

nurse.  He  concedes  that  is  there  are  no  records  dur ing  that

per iod  where  i t  is  said  there  was  moni tor ing,  i f  there  was  no

monitor ing  th is  would  be  unreasonable.  He  agrees  that  he

rel ied  on  the  document  f i led  on  casel ines  022-54  wi th  regard

to the protocol on the dose of Misoprosto l .   

[93] He was asked would  i t  be  fo l lowing protocol  to  g ive  a  pat ient



Misoprostol  bott le  that  has  a lready  been  prepared  for  the

pat ient  to  dr ink  two  hour ly  as  i t  gets  busy  in  the  hospita l

somet imes,  he  sa id  that  would  not  be  acceptable.  Counsel

rephrased the quest ion and said “The plain t i f f  test i f ied that  she

was  prov ided  wi th  a  bot t le  and  to ld  to  take  a  dr ink  every  two

hours.   I f  that  is  correct  would  that  be  reasonable?”  The doctor

re i terated  that  was  unacceptable.  He  says  i f  the  ent i re  bot t le

was  consumed  by  23:30  i f  one  adds  up  the  doses,  20,  40,  60,

80,  100,  there  is  130  mi l l i l i t res  that  should  have  been  given

the  standard  protocol  is  to  dissolve  a  200-mi l l igram  tab let  o f

Misoprosto l  in  200  mi l l i l i t res  of  water .  Counsel  for  the  defence

objected  to  the  t ime  that  was  a l luded  to  as  the  t ime  the  bot t le

was  f in ished.  Counsel  for  the  pla in t i f f  decided  to  leave  the

quest ion and stated i t  is  on record.

[94] He opines i f  Misoprostol  was g iven in  an excessive dose and i f

i t  caused  excessive  contract ions  then  there  would  be  a  nexus

between  the  poor  management  and  the  outcome .  He  says

evidence  of  hyper-st imulat ion  would  be  more  than  f ive

contract ions  in  a  10  minute  per iod.  He says  he  d id  not  deem i t

necessary  to  consul t  the  pat ient ,  h is  work  enta i ls  reading  the

records  and  g iv ing  an  opin ion.  He  says  he  is  not  a  judge.  He

cannot  d ispute  Dr  Sevenster ’s  op inion  that  those  symptoms  as

presented,  as  explained  const i tu ted  hyper-st imulat ion  nei ther

the  notes,  a l l  he  can  do  is  comment.  He  says  he  was  in  c our t

when asked to  be  in  cour t .  He says t he f i rs t  s tep is  the  lack  of



records is  indicat ive of  lack of  monitor ing and i f  there was no

monitor ing then that  is  ev idence of  sub-standard care  

[95] There  are  CTG  tracings  at  17:26  unt i l  18:14  is  the  one.  i f

there  was  no  CTG  monitor ing  that  would  not  be  proper  care.

He says he has no way of  knowing or  conf irming the fact  that

a  CTG  was  done.  He  says  he  is  unable  to  give  an  opin ion

due  to  a  lack  of  records  and  says  th is  prevented  h im  f rom

comment ing  conclusive ly  on  sub-standard  care.  He  says  i f  the

CTG  trac ing  was  not  per formed  pr ior  to  the  admin is t ra t ion  of

each  dose  of  Misoprosto l  that  was  unreasonable,  and  he

agrees  that  is  sub-standard  care.The  longer  the  labour

progresses the  more the  funct ional  reserve in  the  p lacenta  is

taken  up  so  once  contract ions  star t  i t  is  very  important  to

monitor  and  once  there  is  regular  contract ions  to  moni tor

preferably  cont inuous ly  i f  a  machine  is  avai lable  at  the  t ime.

So  that  is  the  reason  why  we  need  to  moni tor  because  once

contrac t ions  start  the  hypox ic  s tress  on  the  foetus  increases

and  that  is  why  monitor ing  becomes  more  and  more

important .

[96] The  idea  of  Misoprosto l  is  to  get  contract ions

started.   Once  contract ions  are  establ ished  then  one

should  not  cont inue  the  Misoprostol  and  any  fur ther

admin is t ra t ion  of  the  Misoprosto l  would  be



unreasonable  i f  the  pat ient  is  in  labour .  The  p lain t i f f

sa id  she  had  consumed  the  whole  bot t le  a t  9  o ’c lock

when  she  was  in  pa in.   He  says  i t  is  important  to  run

a t rac ing,  moni tor  before a dose of  Misoprostol .  

[97] He  says  there  is  a lways  a  need  to  moni tor  a  pat ient  who  is

having contract ions. He agrees that  i t  is  h is  duty  to  point  out

probabi l i t ies  of  hyper-st imulat ion.  i t  is  a  recognised

compl icat ion  of  induct ion  and augmentat ion.   He  conceded i t  is

one  of  the  reasons  moni tor ing  should  be  done.  He  says  Hyper-

st imulat ion  can  cause  precip i tous  labour .  He  says  there  is  no

factual  basis  in  the  c l in ica l  records  that  conf i rm  any  one  of

the  poss ib le  causes.   He  opines  that  the  most  l ike ly  cause  of

the  prec ip i tous  labour  accord ing  to  his  analys is  o f  the

evidence  i t  was  just  one  of  those  prec ipi tous  labours.  He  says

he does not  bel ieve there would  be a universa l  agreement  as

to whether prec ipi tous labour can cause abrupt ion or  whether

abrupt ion  can  cause  prec ip i tous  labour.  He  th inks  the

abrupt ion  p lacentae  and  the  nuchal  cord  contr ibuted  but  to

ascer ta in  percentage  is  impossible.  He  says  there  are  two

recognised  acute  profound  inc idents  which  could  have

caused the in jury but  the propor t ion cannot be conf i rmed. His

opinion  is  that  the  nuchal  cord  can cause hypox ic  in jury.  You

can get  a  nuchal  cord that  actua l ly  causes st rangulat ion.

 [98] He says when you del iver  a  baby the  f i rs t  th ing  you do is  put

f inger  in  a  feel  the  cord  and  i f  there  is  a  cord  around  the



neck you  jus t  pu l l  i t  over  the  head.   I f  i t  is  t ight ly  around  the

neck you cut  i t ,  you c lamp i t ,  cut  i t  and then del iver  the  baby

so  i t  is  something  they  rout ine ly  look  at  and  i t  is  someth ing

that  is  very  common.   I t  does  not  cause  a  problem  unless

that  cord  pul ls  t ight  and  i f  the  cord  pul ls  t ight  i t  can  cause

two  di f ferent  types  of  in jur ies.   As  the  head  descended  in to

the  pelv is  that  cord  was  pul led  t ight  and  that  is  the  most

l ikely  t ime  that  a  nuchal  cord  wi l l  cause  a  problem  is  as  the

head  descends  because  as  the  head  descends  the  d is tance

from  the  placenta  to  the  cord  around  the  baby’s  neck

increases and that  increase can pul l  that  cord t ight  so that  is

why  a  nuchal  cord  can  go unnot iced before  the  second stage

of  labour  or  even  del ivery.   By  the  looks  of  i t  wi th  a  10-

minute  second  stage  the  baby  probably  came  out  as  babies

somet imes do too rapidly for them to feel  for  a cord.  

[99] He  says  that  is  a  possib i l i ty  but  he  could  not  conf i rm.  He

could not say i f  they fe l t  the cord or missed i t . There  is

def in i te ly  a  l ink  between  hyper-st imulat ion  and  prec ipi tous

labour .  His  opin ion  is  that  there  is  no  causal  re la t ionship

because  of  the  type  of  act ion  wi th  hyper-st imulat ion  that  would

cause  lack  of  b lood  supply  to  the  baby  and  i t  would  cause

asphyxia  problems in  the  baby  because  of  lack  of  b lood  supply

through  the  placenta  as  d iscussed  but  he  does  not  see  a

mechanism.  He  says  i f  there  is  no  ev idence  of  foetal  d is tress

then  there  would  not  be  the  urgency  to  get  the  baby  out



because  you  have  suppressed  and  resusci tated  however  i f

there  is  evidence  of  foetal  d is t ress  at  the  t ime  he  says  he

would  not  take  a  chance,  he  would  get  the  baby  out

regardless of  the response but  i f  there was no foeta l  d is t ress

and  just  pure  hyper-s t imulat ion  he  would  t ry  to  suppress  i t .

in  the  absence  of  foeta l  d is tress  wi th  just  hyper-st imulat ion

we  t ry  and  stop  the  hyper-st imulat ion.  Hyper-st imulat ion

basical ly const i tutes a massive depr ivat ion of  oxygen.  

[100] He  says  prolonged  hyper-st imulat ion  almost  cer ta in ly  would

eventual ly  lead  to  foetal  d is t ress  so  i t  needs  to  be  managed.

Again  dependent  on  the  funct ional  reserve,  i f  the  baby  was

near  the  end  of  the  funct ional  reserve  the  minute  hyper-

st imulat ion  star ts  he  could  be  in  foetal  d is t ress.   I f  the  hyper-

st imulat ion  came  af ter  a  very  shor t  per iod  in  labour ,  baby  is

heal thy  wi th  a  good  funct ion ing  placenta  i t  could  take  a  longer

per iod  of  t ime.  The  umbi l ical  cord  would  not  have  caused

hypoxic in jury i f  caesarean sect ion had been per formed.  

[101] He  says  the  blood  pressures  f luctuates  dur ing  these  phases

labour .  00:15  pulse  and  blood  pressure  is  exact ly  s imi lar  to

the  four-hour  observat ion  of  char t  at  22h00,  not  c losely

s imi lar ,  exact ly  s imilar .  He  says  i t  is  not  imposs ib le  to  get

two  exact ly  the  same  two  hours  apar t  but  i t  is  unl ikely.

Counsel  Mphahle le  cross-examined the  wi tness.  He says I f  she

was  hyperst imulated  f rom 21h00  unt i l  say  i t  is  hal f  past  9 ,  ha l f

past  10,  ha l f  past  11,  hal f  par t  12,  come quar ter  past  1 ,  a  baby



would  not  surv ive  an  acute  profound.  i f  there  was

hyperst imulat ion  suf f ic ient  to  cause  foeta l  d is t ress  f rom  21:30

to  de l ivery,  i f  there  was  no,  i f  i t  was  just  an  acute  profound

event ,  the  baby  would  have  d ied,  and  the  baby  cannot  surv ive

that  for  near ly  four  hours  wi th  the  acute  profound.  There  is

progressive  hypoxic  s t ress  p laced  on  the  baby  f rom  the  onset

of  labour  to  de l ivery.  He  says  I f  the  Misoprostol  has  caused

severe  enough  pains  to  cause  in jury,  one  would  have

expected  more  of  a  combined  or  a  par t ia l  pro longed  pat tern.

He  says  one  would  not  have  expected  an  acute  profound

event f rom a hyperstimulat ion that occurred near ly four hours

ear l ier .

THE LEGAL MATRIX

[102] In order to be liable for the loss of someone else, the act or omission

of the defendant must have been wrongful and negligent and have

caused the loss.1 The requirements for a successful claim in delict are well-

established. A plaintiff must prove positive conduct or an omission, causation,

wrongfulness, fault and harm. A plaintiff  must allege and prove the casual

connection between the negligent act relied upon and the damages suffered.

The onus to prove rests on the plaintiff to allege and prove his damage. 2  The

failure by the hospital staff to conduct adequate monitoring of the foetal heart

and to administer a standard of care to properly give medication to the mother

is a negligent, wrongful omission. 

1 Telematrix (Pty) Ltd t/a Matrix Vehicle Tracking v ASASA 2006 (1) SA 461 (SCA); [2006] 1 All SA 6; [2005] ZASCA 73 para 
12.
2 Minister of Police v Skosana 1977 (1) SA 31 (A).



[103] Dr  Sevenster  op ines  i f  they  diagnosed for hyper-stimulation through

monitoring and applied tocolysis no injury would have been sustained by baby

A. He says a normal heart rate for a foetus in labour is usually roundabout

135, 145 but says without a CTG or factual monitoring by means of any other

form of foetal monitoring being a Doppler or foetus scope one cannot make an

assumption. A heart rate of 160 is just indicative of a numeric value of the

heart rate. He says failure to monitor between 21h00 til 00h00 was the reason

for the disastrous end.

[104] It  is  trite  that  the  legal  question  of  factual  causation  asks  the  question  of

whether the wrongful conduct or omission was a factual cause of the loss.  In

Lee,3 the court described that enquiry as follows:

“The enquiry as to factual causation generally results in the application of the so-

called ‘but for’ test, which is designed to determine whether a postulated cause can be

identified as a causa sine qua non of the loss in question. This test  is applied by

asking whether but for the wrongful act or omission of the defendant the event giving

rise to the loss sustained by the plaintiff would have occurred.”

[105] Dr  Sevenster  says  the  acute  profound  brain  in jury  was  as  a

resul t  o f  the p lacental  abrupt ion which was most  probably the

resul t  of  Misoprosto l  induced precip i tous labour.  He says that

he  does  not  agree  wi th  Dr  Kol l  as  there  is  no  ev idence  that

there  was  no  uter ine  hyper-st imulat ion  present ,  there  is  no

factual  record  of  e i ther  Doppler  or  foeta l  scope,  foetal  heart

rate  monitor ing  as  expected  and  ind icated  by  the  Guidel ines

3 Lee v Minister for Correctional Services [2012] ZACC 30; 2013 (2) SA 144 (CC); 2013 (2) BCLR 129 (CC) at para 
48.



of  Materni ty  Care,  the  foetal  hear t  rate  should  be  moni tored

half  an  hour ly  dur ing the  act ive  phase  of  labour.  He  says  t his

partogram is  a  visual  report  of  the  progress  of  labour  through  the  active

phase.  

[106] He says at  00:15  there  is  just  one  hear t  ra te  recorded  and  i f

she  was  present  in  the  cubic le  there  should  have  been,  a

recording  of  a  heart  rate ha lf  an  hour  later  or  even better,  15

minutes  later.  He  asks  i f  she  was  there,  why  was  there  only

one  heart  ra te  moni tor ing.  Again,  th is  is  indicat ive  of  the

substandard  care  that  was  g iven  to  Ms  S  by  the  nurses  at

Pholosong  hospita l .  Dr  Sevenster  opines  they  missed  hyper-

st imulat ion  of  the  uter ine  muscle  and  thus  they  did  not  do

tocolys is to prevent foetal  hypoxia.

[104] In Bentley, the Court, Corbett CJ enunciated that enquiry:

“The enquiry as to factual causation is generally conducted by applying the so-called

‘but  for’  test,  which is  designed to  determine whether  a  postulated cause can be

identified as a causa sine qua non of the loss in question. In order to apply this test

one must make a hypothetical enquiry as to what probably would have happened but

for  the  wrongful  conduct  of  the  defendant.  This  enquiry may involve  the mental

elimination of the wrongful conduct and the substitution of a hypothetical course of

lawful conduct and the posing of the question as to whether upon such a hypothesis

the plaintiff’s loss would have ensued or not. If it would in any event have ensued,

then the wrongful conduct was not a cause of the loss; aliter, if it would not have

ensued.”4

4 International Shipping Co (Pty) Ltd v Bentley 1990 (1) SA 680 (A) at 700E-701F.



[105] Dr  Sevenster  and  Dr  Kol l  acquiescence  that  there  should

have been foetal  heart  ra te  monitor ing  hal f  an  hour  la ter  that

is  quar ter  to  1  and  also  most  probably  one  at  the  t ime  that

she  del ivered,  01:15.   Dr  Sevenster  observed  that  i t  was  not

there  on  th is  par togram and  that  there  were  no  cont ract ions.

He stated  that  the  midwi fe  does not  have to  leave the  pat ient

as  the  f i le  wi l l  be  wi th  her.  He  opined  that  i f  they  had

monitored  the  pat ient  accord ing  to  Maternal  Guidel ines  and

they  would  have  t imeously  ident i f ied  hyper-st imulat ion,  d id

tocolys is  and  prevented  prec ipi tous  labour,  p lacenta l

abrupt ion  most  probably  would  not  have  occurred,  the  t rag ic

outcome  would  not  have  taken  p lace  but  would  have  been  a

part ia l  hypoxic in jury.

[106] The above test was applied in Lee v Minister of Correctional Services, where

the Court said:

“In the case of “positive” conduct or commission on the part of the defendant, the

conduct is mentally removed to determine whether the relevant consequence would

still have resulted. However, in the case of an omission the but-for test requires that a

hypothetical positive act be inserted in the particular set of facts, the so-called mental

removal  of  the  defendant’s  omission.  This  means  that  reasonable  conduct  of  the

defendant would be inserted into the set of facts. However, as will be shown in detail

later, the rule regarding the application of the test in positive acts and omission cases

is not inflexible. There are cases in which the strict application of the rule would

result in an injustice, hence a requirement for flexibility. The other reason is because

it is not always easy to draw the line between a positive act and an omission. Indeed



there is no magic formula by which one can generally establish a causal nexus. The

existence of the nexus will be dependent on the facts of a particular case.”5 

The nexus has been explained supra by Dr Sevenster that monitoring

according  to  Maternal  guidelines  would  have  allowed  diagnosis  of

hyperstimulation.

[107]    The issue of causality, in medical negligence cases, should be approached on 

the basis that it is simply a “common sense” approach as suggested in Lee v

Minister of Correctional Services, which held:

“Application  of  the  ‘but  for’  test  is  not  based  on  mathematics,  pure  science  or

philosophy. It is a matter of common sense, based on the practical way in which the

ordinary person’s mind works against the background of everyday-life experiences.6

[108] The  human body  and its  reactions  are  of  such a  complex nature  that  it  is

important for a plaintiff to provide expert medical evidence regarding the issue

of causality.  In Lee, the Court emphasised that the legal test for causation is

not inflexible and had to make provision for situations where “the use of the

substitution of notional, hypothetical lawful conduct for unlawful conduct in

the  application  of  the  “but  for”  test  for  factual  causation”  may  lead  to  an

injustice.7 The Court held that in some circumstances factual causation would

be established where the plaintiff has proved that, but for the negligent conduct,

the risk of harm would have been reduced.8

[109] Innes CJ in  Van Wyk v Lewis repeated his earlier  statement in

Mitchell v Dixon 1914 AD 519 at 525 that “a medical  practitioner  is  not

5 [2012] ZACC 30; 2013 (2) SA 144 (CC); 2013 (2) BCLR 129 (CC) at para 41.
6 [2012] ZACC 30; 2013 (2) SA 144 (CC); 2013 (2) BCLR 129 (CC) at para 47.
7 [2012] ZACC 30; 2013 (2) SA 144 (CC); 2013 (2) BCLR 129 (CC) at para 50.
8 [2012] ZACC 30; 2013 (2) SA 144 (CC); 2013 (2) BCLR 129 (CC) at para 60.



expected to bring to bear upon the case entrusted to him the highest  possible degree of

professional skill, but is bound to employ reasonable skill and care”, and went on to

say the following at 444: 

“And in deciding what is reasonable the Court will have regard to the general level

of skill and diligence possessed and exercised at the time by the members of the

branch of the profession to which the practitioner belongs.”

Dr Sevenster, Nurse Van Rensburg, Dr Koll and Nurse Sithole showed that

they all knew their professional work and were able to articulate the issues

with  the  highest  degree  of  professional  skill.  The  fact  that  nurse  Van

Rensburg could not recall years when she was doing certain courses did not

discredit her evidence. Her evidence was reiterated by all experts even the

nurse from the defendant’s side in relation to monitoring of patients during

labour. Dr Sevenster’s major concern was monitoring which to which Dr Koll

also conceded would be unreasonable and sub-standard care if same was not

done. Nurse Sithole failed to employ reasonable skill  and care in that she

gave  Ms  Sithole  the  bottle  of  Misoprostol  to  administer  herself,  failed  to

monitor the plaintiff as per the Maternal guidelines and failed to keep proper

records as expected. This conduct is unacceptable considering the condition

the plaintiff was in and that the defendant’s staff had the duty of care for the

plaintiff. 

[110] In Kruger v Coetzee 1966 (2) SA 428 (A), viz:

For the purposes of liability culpa arises if –

(a) a diligens paterfamilias in the position of the Defendant –



(i)  would  foresee  the  reasonable  possibility  of  his  conduct  injuring

another in his personal property and causing him patrimonial loss; and (ii)

would take reasonable steps to guard against such occurrence; and 

(iii) the Defendant failed to take such steps. 

.... Whether a  diligens paterfamilias in the position of the person

concerned would take any steps at all and, if so, what steps would

be  reasonable,  must  always  depend  on  the  particular

circumstances  of  each case.  No hard  and fast  basis  can be laid

down. 

In  casu what is evident is that the defendant’s staff failed to take

reasonable  measures  to  prevent  the  injury.  That  conduct  is

indicative of sub-standard care that was given to the plaintiff during

the  crucial  moments  of  labour.  The  negligence  in  entrusting  a

layman with a bottle of Misoprostol to administer herself without the

consequences thereof being explained to her. The causal manner

in that Nurse Sithole explained how she might have given the bottle

to K S and which conduct this court frowns at as did Dr Koll being

the defendant’s expert witness. 

[112] Wrongfulness involves the breach of a legal duty. The legal duty in the

present matter arose when the mother was admitted to the hospital  in

labour. The staff assumed a duty to care for mother and fetus during the

birth  process without  negligence,  in  other  words,  as would reasonable



staff  in their position. More particularly,  they had a duty to monitor the

condition of mother and foetus and act appropriately on the results. They

failed to do so, therefore are in breach of that legal duty. Their conduct

was thus wrongful.  But  this,  in  itself,  has never  been sufficient  to  find

delictual liability. The wrongful conduct must cause the wronged person to

suffer  loss.  The first  step in  proving  this  is  to  prove that  the  wrongful

conduct  of  the  staff  caused  the  baby  to  suffer  brain  damage.  The

appellant accordingly bore an onus to prove this. Wrongfulness should not

be conflated with factual causation.9 The defendant had a duty of care

towards the plaintiff and it is evident that the maternal guidelines were not

adhered to.

[113] In  Loureiro, Van  der  Westhuizen  J  explained  that  the  wrongfulness

enquiry is based on the duty not to cause harm, and that in the case of

negligent  omissions;  the  focus  is  on  the  reasonableness  of  imposing

liability.10  An  enquiry  into  wrongfulness  is  determined  by  weighing

competing norms and interests.11 According to Dr Sevenster and Dr Koll

the  Misoprostol  increases  the  contractions  which  could  result  in

precipitous  labour.  The  Misoprostol  is  administered  in  order  to  induce

labour and as soon as the patient is in labour same must be stopped.

9 AN v MEC for Health, Eastern Cape (585/2018) [2019] ZASCA 102; [2019] 4 All SA 1 (SCA) (15 August 2019

10  Loureiro and Others v Imvula Quality Protection (Pty) Ltd [2014] ZACC 4; 2014
(3) SA 394 (CC);  2014 (5) BCLR 511 (CC) (Loureiro) at  para 53.  See also
Country Cloud Trading CC v MEC, Department of Infrastructure Development,
Gauteng [2014] ZACC 28; 2015 (1) SA 1 (CC); 2014 (12) BCLR 1397 (CC) at
para 21.

11 Loureiro at para 34.



[114] The  criterion  of  wrongfulness  ultimately  depends  on  a  judicial

determination of  whether,  assuming all  the other  elements of  delictual

liability  are  present,  it  would  be  reasonable  to  impose  liability  on  a

defendant  for  the  damages  flowing  from  specific  conduct.12  Whether

conduct  is  wrongful  is  tested  against  the  legal  convictions  of  the

community  which  are,  “by necessity  underpinned and informed by  the

norms and values of our society, embodied in the Constitution”.13

[115] In  Van  Duivenboden14,  Nugent  JA  stressed  that  a  negligent  omission

should only be regarded as being wrongful ‘if it occurs in circumstances

that  causing  harm’.  The  use  of  the  phrase  ‘legal  duty’  in  these

circumstances  means  no  more  than  that  the  omission  must  not  be

wrongful  as  judicially  determined  in  the  manner  referred  to  above i.e.

involving criteria of public and legal policy consistent with constitutional

norms15.

[116] In the face of an admitted legal duty of care, the applicant needed to show

only that the legal duty was breached.30 Molemela AJ stated further: The

respondent’s admission of a legal duty to dispense reasonable medical

care is properly made. The law requires hospitals to provide urgent and

appropriate emergency medical treatment to a person in the position of

the  applicant.  There  is  no  doubt  that  the  legal  convictions  of  the

community  demand  that  hospitals  and  health  care  practitioners  must

12  Le Roux and Others v Dey (Freedom of Expression Institute and Restorative
Justice Centre as Amicus Curiae) [2011] ZACC 4; 2011 (3) SA 274 (CC); 2011
(6) BCLR 577 (CC) (Le Roux v Dey) at para 122.

13 Loureiro at para 34.
14  7 2002 (6) SA 431 (SCA) para 12.

15 See Hawekwa Youth Camp v Byrne 2010 (6) SA 83 (SCA) para 22.



provide proficient healthcare services to members of the public.  These

convictions also demand that those who fail to do so must incur liability.16

[117] In so far as there are factual disputes arising from irreconcilable versions,

such  should  be  resolved  in  the  manner  described  by  Nienaber  JA  in

Stellenbosch Farmers’ Winery Group Ltd & Another v Martell  et Cie &

Others17:’To come to a conclusion on the disputed issues a court must

make findings on 

(a) the credibility of the various factual witnesses; 

(b) their reliability; and 

(c) the probabilities. 

As to (a), the court’s finding on the credibility of a particular witness will

depend on its impression about the veracity of the witness. That in turn

will depend on a variety of subsidiary factors, not necessarily in order of

importance, such as 

(i) the witness’ candour and demeanour in the witness-box, 

(ii) his bias, latent and blatant, 

(iii) internal contradictions in his evidence, 

(iv) external contradictions with what was pleaded or put on his behalf,

or with established fact or with his own extra curial statements or

actions,

(v)  the probability or improbability of particular aspects of his version, 

16 Para 54
17 2 2003 (1) SA 11 (SCA) para 5



(vi) the calibre and cogency of his performance compared to that of

other witnesses testifying about the same incident or events.

As to (b), a witness’ reliability will depend, apart from the factors

mentioned under (a)(ii), (iv) and (v) above, on (i) the opportunities

he had to experience or observe the event in question and (ii) the

quality, integrity and independence of his recall thereof. 

As  to  (c),  this  necessitates  an  analysis  and  evaluation  of  the

probability or improbability of each party’s version on each of the

disputed issues. In the light of its assessment of (a), (b) and (c) the

court  will  then,  as  a  final  step,  determine  whether  the  party

burdened with the onus of proof has succeeded in discharging it.

The hard case, which will doubtless be the rare one, occurs when a

court’s  credibility  findings  compel  it  in  one  direction  and  its

evaluation  of  the  general  probabilities  in  another.  The  more

convincing the former,  the less convincing will  be the latter.  But

when all factors are equipoised probabilities prevail.’18 

[118] When dealing with the evidence of experts in a field where medical certainty is

virtually impossible, a court must determine whether and to what extent their

opinions … are founded on logical reasoning. The court must be satisfied that

such  opinion  has  a  logical  basis,  in  other  words  that  the  expert  has

considered  comparative  risks  and  benefits  and  reached  ‘a  defensible

18 Makgoka JA in paragraph [53] of HAL (obo MML) v MEC for Health, Free State [2021] ZASCA 149 (22 October 2021):



conclusion’19.  He  says  i f  Misoprosto l  was  given  in  an  excessive

dose  and  i f  i t  caused  excessive  contract ions  then  there  would

be  a  nexus  between  the  poor  management  and  the  outcome.  In

casu  the  pat ient  d id  say  she  had  f in ished  the  ent i re  bot t le  o f

the Misoprosto l  when the nurse reached her.  

[119] Dr  Kol l  says  he  re l ies  on  records  thus  he  did  not  consu l t  the

pati ent .  In  th i s  case  Dr  Kol l  d id  not  have  the  notes  but  he  d id  not

deem  i t  fi t  to  consul t  the  pati ent ,  th i s  i s  tenebrous  as  to  why  not .

Dr  Kol l  fur ther  op ines  that  Misoprosto l  i tse l f  does  not  put  any

stress  on  the  baby,  the  contract ions  caused  by  the  Misoprosto l

put  the  st ress  on  the  baby.  He  re i terates  that  f rom  the

commencement  o f  contract ions  i t  becomes  very  important  to

moni tor,  probabi l i t ies  of  hyper-st imulat ion.  i t  is  a  recognised

compl icat ion  of  induct ion  and  augmentat ion.  I t  is  therefore  on

that  basis  that  I  am  unable  to  ass imi la te  why  he  would  di f fer

wi th  Dr  Sevenster  consider ing  that  there  is  a  per iod  that  is

unaccounted for  in  terms of  moni tor ing  by  the  nurs ing  staff  and

that  he  would  fa i l  to  a l lude  to  the  probabi l i t ies  as  narrated  by

Dr Sevenster.  

[120] In this regard, in Coopers (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd v Deutsche Gesellschaft

für Schädlingsbekämpfung MBH, 6 this Court held: ‘[A]n expert’s opinion

19 Michael & Ano v Linksfield Park Clinic (Pty) Ltd and Ano 2001 (3) SA 1188 (SCA) paras 36-37 ….].   Mediclinic Ltd v        
Vermeulen 2015 (1) SA 241 (SCA) para 5].17.9)



represents  their  reasoned  conclusion  based  on  certain  facts  or  data,

which are either common cause, or established by their own evidence or

that of  some other competent witness.  Except possibly where it  is  not

controverted, an expert’s bald statement of their opinion is not of any real

assistance. Proper evaluation of the opinion can only be undertaken if the

process of reasoning which led to the conclusion, including the premises

from which the reasoning proceeds, are disclosed by the expert.’20

Dr  ko l l  says  he  cannot  d ispute  Dr  Sevenster ’s  op in ion  that

those  symptoms  as  presented,  as  expla ined  const i tu ted  hyper-

st imulat ion  nei ther  the  notes,  a l l  he  can  do  is  comment,  which

statement  is  indicat ive  of  an  exper t  fa i l ing  to  again  consider

the probabi l i t ies.  

[121] In this regard: Schutz J21 found an expert to be relatively honest - only

relatively  because  his  honesty  was  marred  by  his  well-developed

readiness, which one sees in so many experts, to protect the team goal.

The  judge22 castigated  the  orthopaedic  surgeon  for  the  plaintiff,  Mr

Williams, for the robust language which Mr Williams had used in dealing

with the conduct of the doctor in question, and in dealing with the views of

his opposite number.  He said this in this regard: I have to say that I find it

deeply disturbing to find an expert, however distinguished a surgeon he

may  be,  seeking  to  “rubbish”  the  sincerely  held,  and  reasonably

expressed, beliefs of those who happen to disagree with him. In casu Dr

Koll failed to address the probabilities. 

20 AM and Another v MEC Health, Western Cape [2020] ZASCA 89; 2021 (3) SA 337 (SCA) para 17
21  Orda AG v Nuclear Fuels Corporation 1994 (4) SA 26 (W) 78H-l
22 p240 of his judgement in El-Morssy v Bristol  & District Health Authority [1996] Med LR 232 (Q), Turner J



[122] Gorven J23 held it bears remembering that the required standard is proof

on a balance of probabilities. It is also worth noting that, in arriving at their

opinions,  medical  experts  frequently  apply  a  scientific  level  of  proof

approaching certainty. Courts must guard against adopting this standard.

The test for factual causation is whether the act or omission of the defendant

has  been  proved  to  have  caused  or  materially  contributed  to  the  harm

suffered. Where the defendant has negligently breached a legal duty and the

plaintiff  has suffered harm,  it  must  still  be proved that  the breach is  what

caused the harm suffered. In the present matter, it is common cause that the

hospital staff did not properly monitor the labour. Accepted guidelines require

such staff to take and record the foetal heart rate over certain periods. In well-

equipped hospitals, the foetal heart rate is monitored with cardiotocographs

(CTGs).  The hospital  was not equipped with these. In such situations, the

monitoring is done by auscultation of the foetal heart.

[123] In casu the nurse testified that CTG machines were present and that she did

use it  on the plaintiff,  however the most crucial  CTG tracing could not be

found safe for contemporaneous notes that surfaced after the file had been

missing for a period of time. The case supra differs with this matter. Herein

the CTG machine was not used optimally by the nurse, there was no proper

monitoring of the heart rate for almost an hour before delivery. Every moment

counts during the active labour phase. The factual causation to result, it must

be shown that if the sentinel event had been detected within a reasonable

23 MEC for Health and Social Development, Gauteng v MM on behalf of OM (Case no 697/2020) [2021] ZASCA 128 (30 
September 2021)



time, intervention within a reasonable time would probably have prevented the

brain damage. 

[124] I became concerned when I heard that despite that documents were provided

for the recording of the monitoring that was not done. Nurse Sithole says she

was caring for nine patients in one cubicle. She blames that there were three

CTG machines allocated for entire ward. I still cannot assimilate the behaviour

of the nurse in a casual manner as she dealt with the birth of A M. What is

evident is that she failed to follow protocol in relation to the use of Misoprostol,

CTG tracing and recording  prior to transferring the patient to the labour ward. 

[125] It is not possible to just believe that she did a CTG tracing yet same could not

be located.  It  is  concerning  that  according  to  all  the  experts  both  for  the

plaintiff and the defendant, vitals must be recorded at the time that are being

taken and it  is highly unlikely that you would have exactly the same vitals

when a person is  in  labour.  The plaintiff  testified  that  when the  last  CTG

tracing was done she had finished the bottle of Misoprostol. She did say she

was in pain at 21h00.

 

[126] Here we have a case of a layman who is told drink this medicine four hourly

without knowing the consequences of this medicine. Nurse Sithole does not

say she explained to the plaintiff that the medicine increases contractions nor

that she must not take the medicine in the event the contractions proceed at a

certain speed. This conduct by the nurse is careless, wrongful and negligent. 

It  is  evident  that  the  hospital  at  Pholosong  is  short  staffed  and  that  puts

pressure on the nurses at the hospital  to the extent that their judgment in

administering medicine is impaired. Nurse Sithole was ceased with caring for



at least nine patients and she says it is possible that when she reached the

plaintiff  before the final  dosage she was busy with other patients.  What is

imperative in this instance was that she should not have given the patient the

medicine to administer herself, this would have prevented the drinking of the

medicine whilst  already in the active phase of labour and before the CTG

tracing was done. Nurse Sithole was provided with the documents in which

she was to record but she did not use them optimally. I do not believe that the

nurse had a choice as to what should be recorded. 

[128] Dr Sevenster says he was taught  as  a  medica l  student ,  you l is ten

before  and  af ter  and  you  wr i te  down,  the  basel ine  and  that

there  is  no  decelerat ions  or  there  is  decelerat ions  and  you

take  appropr iate  act ion.  I  want  to  be l ieve  that  such  cruc ia l

t ra in ing  the nurse must  a lso  have been taught .  I t  would seem

the  records  were  miss ing  at  a  po int  but  u l t imate ly  surfaced.

These records revealed that sub-standard care was given to the plaintiff. 

[129]   In the matter of Mashongwa v PRASA24 the following was stated:

No legal system permits liability without bounds.  It is universally accepted that a way 

must be found to impose limitations on the wrongdoer’s liability.25  The imputation of 

liability to the wrongdoer depends on whether the harmful conduct is too remotely 

connected to the harm caused or closely connected to it.26  When proximity has been 

established, then liability ought to be imputed to the wrongdoer provided policy 

considerations based on the norms and values of our Constitution and justice also point 

to the reasonableness of imputing liability to the defendant.27

24 6 2016 (3) SA 528 (CC) para 68 to 69.
25 Neethling above n 56 at 197.

26 Minister of Safety and Security and Another v Carmichele 2004 (3) SA 305 (SCA) para 72.



[130] The nurse when she was told of the severe pains, told the patient to pack 

up. No CTG was done. The probabilities favour the plaintiff’s version. 

According to the nurse called by the plaintiff if monitoring was done hyper-

stimulation would have been detected. Dr Sevenster says the tight cord 

could be responsible for hypoxic, and it can cause hypoxia, but in this 

case, it cannot, and it did not cause an acute profound injury. He further 

said the initial painful contractions were indicative of the Misoprostol 

starting to give her proper contractions. Dr Sevenster reiterated that 

monitoring of the heart rate, contractions, and proper record keeping 

became important. 

[131] He opined that was hyper-stimulation of the uterus as the contractions 

became severe. He says failure of the medical personnel missed 

hyperstimulation of uterine muscle and thus they did not do tocolysis to 

prevent foetal hypoxia. The hyperstimulation started precipitous labour. 

He says proper diagnosis would have stopped contractions especially 

because Misoprostol complications are hyperstimulation. The doctor of 

the defendant relied on notes which did not have a CTG, this is 

inconceivable. The only possible cause of placenta abruption Dr 

Sevenster found to be hyperstimulation not the abnormalities that he was 

referred to. I must say I agree with Counsel Myburgh in his deduction that 

Dr Koll’s evidence was that, if it is not recorded, it cannot be proven. The 

defendant’s expert gynaecologist conceded that, had intervention 

occurred as opined by Doctor Sevenster, the minor child would not have 

suffered the hypoxic injury he did.

27 Minister for Safety and Security v Scott and Another [2014] ZASCA 84; 2014 (6) SA 1 (SCA) at
paras 37-8 and S v Mokgethi en Andere 1990 (1) SA 32 (A).



[132] On a preponderance of probabilities, the plaintiff has established that 

there was a legal duty which the defendant has breached by failure to 

monitor the plaintiff whilst using Misoprostol, that she the plaintiff 

experienced hyperstimulation, which went undiagnosed and untreated 

due to the failure to monitor. This led to A M being born 

with cerebral palsy an injury that could have been prevented in the event 

of monitoring, diagnosing hyperstimulation and taking appropriate steps. 

The unreasonable care constituted negligence defendant breached a duty

of care, such breach being unlawful. I have concluded that was proved by the

plaintiff. The creation of risk by the negligence of the hospital staff caused the

brain damage suffered by the baby A. The plaintiff has established and 

proven the liability of the defendant to compensate the plaintiff and the 

minor. I have considered the order filed by the plaintiff’s counsel and I 

have amended same.

[133] In the result I therefore make the following order:-

1. The Defendant be ordered to pay 100% (one hundred 

percent) of the First and Second Plaintiff’s agreed or proven 

damages, which damages flow from the neurological injuries 

sustained by First Plaintiff during labour and delivery at 

Pholosong Hospital on or about 26 February 2015 and the 

resultant cerebral palsy (and its sequelae) which the First 

Plaintiff suffers from.



2. The Defendant shall pay the Plaintiff’s taxed or agreed costs

of suit, to date, and such costs shall be at the discretion of the

taxing master (but not necessarily be limited to) the following:

(a) The costs attendant upon the obtaining of the medico-legal

reports  and/or  addendum reports  and/or  joint  minutes

and addendum joint minutes, if any, as well as qualifying

and/or reservation fees, if  any, of  the following expert

witnesses:

(i) Dr J Reid — neurologist; 

(ii) Dr A Keshave —paediatric neurologist; 

(iii) Dr C B v 0 Sevenster — gynaecologist and obstetrician; 

(iv) Dr Malan van Rensburg -radiologist; 

(v) Sr E Jansen Van Rensburg — nursing expert; 

(vi) Prof  J  Smith  —  specialist  paediatrician  and

neonatologist; 

(vii) Dr  GS  Gericke  —  specialist  paediatrician  and

geneticist.

(viii)    The costs of any radiological or other special medical

investigation used by any of the aforementioned

experts.



(b) The qualifying,  reservation,  attendance and/or  preparation

costs, if any, as allowed by the taxing master, of the experts or

whom the Plaintiff gave notice in terms of Rule 36[9][a] and [b];

including but not limited to:

(i) Dr Sevenster;

(ii) Sr van Rensburg;

(c) The costs attended upon the appointment of senior junior

counsel including the reasonable fees for preparation of the heads

of  argument  as  well  as  their  full  day  fees  for  each  day  of

appearance.

(d)  The costs to date of this order, which shall, subject to the

discretion of the taxing master,  further include the costs of  the

attorneys which include necessary travelling costs and expenses

[time and kilometres], preparation for trial and expenses [time and

kilometres],  preparation for trial  and attendance at court  [which

shall include all costs previously reserved]. It will also include the

reasonable costs of  consulting with the Plaintiff  to consider the

offer, the costs incurred to accept the offer and make the offer an

order of court;

(e) The  reasonable  costs  incurred  by  and  on  behalf  of  the

Plaintiff  in  as  well  as  the  costs  consequent  to  attending  the

medico-legal examinations of both parties;



(f)     The  costs  consequent  to  the  plaintiff’s  trial  bundles  and

witness bundles, including the costs of 8 [eight] copies thereof;

efdeb8f7f71d9bab7b55-60

(g) The  costs  of  holding  all  pre-trial  conferences,  as  well  as

round table meetings between legal representatives for both the

Plaintiff  and  the  Defendant,  including  senior-junior  counsel’s

charges  in  respect  thereof,  irrespective  of  the  time  elapsed

between pre-trials;

(h) The costs  of  and consequent  of  the  holding  of  all  expert

meetings between the medico-legal experts appointed by Plaintiff

[if any].

3. The defendant shall pay interest on the plaintiff’s taxed or agreed costs

of suit at the prescribed statutory rate calculated from 31 (THIRTY-ONE)

days after agreement in respect thereof, or from the date of affixing of the

taxing master’s allocatur, to date of payment.

_______________________

KHWINANA AJ

FOR THE PLAINTIFF:     ADV MYBURGH

FOR THE DEFENDANT:  ADV MPHAHLELE SC

                                                    ADV M RASEKGALA
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